
 

Page 1 of 3 

 
    City of Gardner, Massachusetts 

Office of the City Council 
~~~~~~~ 

CALENDAR FOR THE MEETING 
of 

MONDAY, DECEMBER 16, 2024 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBER 

7:30 P.M. 
 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 
*AMENDED 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

 
II. CALL OF THE ROLL OF COUNCILLORS 

 
III. OPENING PRAYER 

 
IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
 V. ANNOUNCEMENT OF OPEN MEETING RECORDINGS 
 

Any person may make a video or audio recording of an open session of a meeting, or may transmit the meeting through any medium, subject to reasonable 
requirements of the chair as to the number, placement and operation of equipment used so as not to interfere with the conduct of the meeting.  Any person 
intending to make such recording shall notify the Chair forthwith.  All documents and exhibits used or referenced at the meeting must be submitted in 
duplicate to the City Clerk, as they become part of the Meeting Minutes. 

 
VI. READING OF MINUTES OF PRIOR MEETING(S) 

• September 16, 2024, Regular Meeting 
• September 19, 2024, Special Meeting 
• October 7, 2024, Regular Meeting 

  
VII. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
VIII. COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR 
 

ORDERS 
 
11450 – An Order Appropriating $800,000.00 from Sewer Retained Earnings Surplus 

to Sewer Lechate Pump Station Improvements. (Finance Committee) Page 21 
 
11451 – An Order Appropriating $150,000.00 from Water Retained Earning Surplus 

to Water Repairs to Mains Account. (Finance Committee) Page 25 
 
COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 



 

Page 2 of 3 

11455 – Notice of Appointment of Vincent Pusateri, to the position of City Solicitor, 
for term expiring January 7, 2026. (Confirmation not required) Page 29 

 
11456 – Notice of Appointment of Rachel J. Roberts, to the position of Executive     

Secretary, for term expiring January 1, 2026. (Confirmation not required) 
Page 32 

 
IX. PETITIONS, APPLICATIONS, COMMUNICATIONS, ETC. 
 

11452 – Application for Motor Vehicle Dealers Licenses, Class II, Gardner Five Star 
Auto Sales, 407 Chestnut Street (Safety Committee; Application received 
12/9/2024) Page 33 

 
11453 – Fire Department update with Fire Chief Greg Lagoy. (Finance Committee) 

Page 35 
 
11454 – Report on the Investigation of the Maki Park Project. Page 38 

 
X. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES  
 
 SAFETY COMMITTEE 
 

*11444 – Applications for Motor Vehicle Dealers Licenses, Class I. (In the City 
Council and Referred to Safety Committee 12/2/2024) Page 65 

 (a) Salvadore Chevrolet, 442 West Broadway  
(b) Salvadore Chrysler-Dodge-Jeep-Ram, 442 West Broadway 

 
*11445 – Applications for Motor Vehicle Dealers Licenses, Class II (In the City 

Council and Referred to Safety Committee 12/2/2024) Page 69 
(a) AC Auto Clinic, 411 Parker Street 
(b) Brian’s Auto Sales, 549 W Broadway 
(c) Blake Motors, 412 Main Street 
(d) Gardner Auto Mart, Inc., 182 West Street 
(e) Gardner Motors, LLC, 119 Pearson Blvd 
(f) JPJ Automotive, LLC, 78 East Broadway 
(g) Mike’s Auto, 251 E Broadway 
(h) Osagi Enterprise, LLC., 43 Tobey Street 
(i) Ric’s Radiator Repair Used Car Sales, 800 W Broadway 
(j) Riverside Auto, 65 Riverside Road 
(k) Salvadore Chevrolet, 421 W Broadway 
(l) Salvadore Chevrolet, 249 Timpany Blvd. 
(m) J. Wood Inc., 361 West Street 

 
*11446 – Applications for Motor Vehicle Dealers Licenses, Class III (In the City 

Council and Referred to Safety Committee 12/2/2024) Page 99 
(a) Osagi Enterprise, LLC., Used Auto Parts Sales, 43 Tobey Street. 
(b) Riverside Auto, 65 Riverside Road 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 
 
 APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE 
 

11447 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Robert Mojica, to the 
position of Police Officer, permanent. Page 103 

 
 COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
 

11289 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Part 1, thereof 
entitled “Administrative Legislation.” (In the City Council Referred to Finance 
Committee, 5/20/2024, More Time 6/3/2024, 6/17/2024, 7/1/2024, 8/5/2024, 
9/4/2024, 9/16/2024, 10/7/2024, 10/21/2024, 11/4/2024, 11/18/2024; Ordered 
to First Printing 12/2/2024; First Printing 12/6/2024) Page 104 

 
XI.    UNFINISHED BUSINESS AND MATTERS FOR RECONSIDERATION 
 
XII. NEW BUSINESS 
 
XIII. COUNCIL COMMENTS AND REMARKS 
 
XIV. CLOSING PRAYER 
 
XV. ADJOURNMENT 
 
  
 

Items listed on the Council Calendar are those reasonably anticipated by the Council President to be discussed at the meeting.  Not all items listed 
may in fact be discussed and other items not listed may also be brought up for discussion to the extent permitted by law. 
 
 
*Amended – Items #11444, 11445, 11446 were added to the agenda. 



 
REGULAR MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 1 of 7 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

Regular Meeting of the City Council was held in the City Council Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, on 
Monday evening, September 16, 2024.  
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
Council President Elizabeth Kazinskas called the meeting to order at 7:30pm.  
 

CALL OF THE ROLL 
 
Assistant City Clerk Jayen Kumar called the Roll of Members. Eleven (11) Councillors were present 
including Councillors Calvin Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana 
Heath, Brad Heglin, Elizabeth Kazinskas, Judy Mack, Paul Tassone (via phone conference), David 
Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros. 
 

OPENING PRAYER 
 
President Kazinskas led the Council in reciting the Opening Prayer. 
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
President Kazinskas led the Council in reciting the “Pledge of Allegiance”. 
 

OPEN MEETING RECORDING & PUBLIC RECORDS ANNOUNCEMENT 
 
President Kazinskas announced to the assembly that the Open Meeting Recording and Public 
Records Announcement. Any person may make a video or audio recording of an open session of a 
meeting or may transmit the meeting through any medium subject to reasonable requirements of the 
chair as to the number placement and operation of equipment used so as not to interfere with the 
conduct of the meeting. Any person intending to make such recordings shall notify the Chair 
forthwith. All documents and exhibits used or referenced at the meeting must be submitted in 
duplicate to the chair as they become part of the meeting minutes pursuant to General Law Chapter 
38 Section 20. 
 

READING OF MINUTES OF PRIOR MEETING(S) 
 

On a motion made by Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz and seconded by Councillor Judy Mack, it 
was voted on call of the roll, eleven (11) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin 
Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy 
Mack, Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros to waive the reading and accept the 
MINUTES of September 4, 2024, Regular Meeting. 
 
 



 
REGULAR MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 2 of 7 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

There were no public hearings. 
 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR 
 

#11388    
On a motion made by Councillor Judy Mack and seconded by Councillor George Tyros, it was voted 
on call of the roll, eleven (11) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin Brooks, Craig 
Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, Paul Tassone, 
David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros to grant the resolution: 
 
A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE MAYOR’S REQUEST TO THE MASSACHUSETTS 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION TO OBTAIN FULL CUSTODIANSHIP OF ROUTE 140 
FROM GREEN STREET TO THE TOWN OF WINCHENDON 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Gardner currently holds all responsibility and liability for the maintenance,  
upkeep,  line  painting,  paving,  design  planning,  and  other responsivities- financial and physical 
with the section of State Route 140 from the intersection with Green Street and the border of the City 
of Gardner and the Town of Winchendon; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Massachusetts Department of Transportation currently holds all responsibility for 
these aspects in all other sections of State Route 140 that run through the City of Gardner; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Massachusetts Department of Transportation has made a concerted effort to obtain full 
custodianship of all other sections of Route 140 in other area municipalities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Massachusetts Department of Transportation and the Administration, through the 
Mayor, the Department of Public Works, and the City Engineer, have requested that the Massachusetts 
Department of Transportation take over custody of the section of State Route 140 that the City 
currently maintains; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, The City Council of the City of Gardner hereby adopts this resolution in support 
of the City’s Administration’s request for the Massachusetts Department of Transportation to take over 
custodianship of the section of State Route 140 from the intersection of Green Street to the City’s border 
with the Town of Winchendon. 
 
#11390 
On a motion made by Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz and seconded by Councillor Judy Mack, it 
was voted on call of the roll, ten (10) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin 
Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Judy Mack, Paul 



 
REGULAR MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 3 of 7 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros; Councillor Brad Heglin abstained; to grant the 
measure: 
 

AUTHORIZING FIVE-YEAR CONTRACT PERIOD 
SCHOOL DEPARTMENT COPIER AND PRINTER SERVICES 

 
VOTED:    To authorize the City to enter into a contract not to exceed five (5) years for School 
Department Copier and Printer Services, pursuant to the provisions of Massachusetts General Law, 
Chapter 30B, section 12 and under the terms outlined in the Purchasing Agent's June 18, 2024, 
Memorandum. 
 
#11391 
On a motion made by Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz and seconded by Councillor Judy Mack, it 
was voted on call of the roll, eleven (11) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin 
Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, 
Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros to grant the measure: 
 

AUTHORIZING FIVE-YEAR CONTRACT PERIOD 
FIRE ALARM AND SPRINKLER TESTING SERVICES 

 
VOTED:    To authorize the City to enter into a contract not to exceed five (5) years for Fire Alarm 
and Sprinkler Testing Services, pursuant to the provisions of Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 30B, 
section 12 and under the terms outlined in the Purchasing Agent's August 28, 2024, Memorandum. 
 
#11392 
On a motion made by Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz and seconded by Councillor Judy Mack, it 
was voted on call of the roll, eleven (11) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin 
Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, 
Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros to place the measure on file, A Communication 
from the Mayor providing an update on the progress at the Waterford Community Center. 
 
#11393 
On a motion made by Councillor Judy Mack and seconded by Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz, it 
was voted on call of the roll, eleven (11) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin 
Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, 
Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros to grant the measure: 
 

AN ORDER TO RENAME THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 62 WATERFORD STREET AS THE 
“WATERFORD COMMUNITY CENTER” 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARDNER AS FOLLOWS: 
 



 
REGULAR MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 4 of 7 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

VOTED:    that the building located at 62 Waterford Street, further identified on the Gardner Assessor’s 
map as Parcel M22-13-4, that was previously named “Waterford Street School,” be officially designated 
and re-named as the Waterford Community Center. 
 
#11394 
Councillor George Tyros informed the Council that through the Authority Under section 25 of the city 
Charter, initiate an investigation into if anything did indeed go wrong with the construction of the 
former park at Maki block, how, if any errors did occur, and what remedies the city may take to address 
any problems and possible process improvement in the future. Furthermore, that the council president 
appointed counselor to undertake the investigation and report back to the full council at the earliest 
time that a thorough recounting of the facts may be made.  
 
Under section 28 of the city’s charter, Councillor Calvin Brooks objected to the motion. No further 
action can be taken and will be postponed for the next meeting. 
 

ORDERS 
 

#11389 
On a motion made by Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz and seconded by Councillor Judy Mack, it 
was voted on call of the roll, eleven (11) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin 
Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, 
Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros to remove the order from the calendar, An 
Order Authorizing $12,139.35 Payment of Previous Fiscal Year Bill for Public Building Utilities- 
Mayor’s Unclassified Account. 
 

REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
#11289 
An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Part 1, thereof entitled, “Administrative 
Legislation”. 
 
Councillor Alek Dernalowicz requested for MORE TIME. 
 
There were no objections, more time was granted. 
 
#11370 
An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 590, thereof entitled “Solid Waste” 
to change the fee for solid waste collections. 
 



 
REGULAR MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 5 of 7 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

President Kazinskas informed the Council that there was not enough time between the 1st Printing 
Publication and the next action.  Because of the insufficient time, the item will remain on the 
calendar and action will be taken at the next meeting. 
 
There were no objections, item remains on the calendar. 
 
#11371 
An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 553, thereof entitled “Sewer 
Rates”. 
 
President Kazinskas informed the Council that there was not enough time between the 1st Printing 
Publication and the next action.  Because of the insufficient time, the item will remain on the 
calendar and action will be taken at the next meeting. 
 
There were no objections, item remains on the calendar. 
 
#11372 
An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 171, thereof entitled “Personnel” 
to amend Schedule E- Non-Union Compensation Schedule. 
 
President Kazinskas informed the Council that there was not enough time between the 1st Printing 
Publication and the next action.  Because of the insufficient time, the item will remain on the 
calendar and action will be taken at the next meeting. 
 
There were no objections, item remains on the calendar. 
 
#11387 
On a motion made by Councillor Judy Mack and seconded by Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz, it 
was voted on call of the roll, eleven (11) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin 
Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, 
Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros to grant the resolution: 
 
 

A RESOLUTION RELATING TO THE FUTURE OF COLEMAN STREET SCHOOL 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Gardner has owned a building at 68 Coleman Street, known as Coleman Street 
School; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Gardner has not used this property for municipal purposes for a number of 
years; and 
 



 
REGULAR MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 6 of 7 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

WHEREAS, the organization Making Opportunity Count, formerly known as the Montachusett 
Opportunity Council (MOC), has utilized the space for many years to house the Head Start Program, 
benefitting many Gardner families and youth; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, The Gardner City Council formally requests the Mayor to 
study and report with his recommendations the declaration of surplus and later disposal of the building 
at 68 Coleman Street, known as Coleman Street School, by lease or sale. 
 

SAFETY COMMITTEE 
 
#11204 
Councillor Craig Cormier informed the Council that the Public Safety Committee had a public hearing 
on this ordinance and several members of the public submitted their concerns. The recommendation 
from the Public Safety Committee is to send this ordinance back to the Traffic Commission for 
additional feedback and information. 
 
Councillor Craig Cormier requested more time on, An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of 
Gardner, Chapter 600, Entitled “Vehicles and Traffic”, Section 24, Entitled "Parking Prohibited on 
Certain Streets” – Edgell Street, from Elm Street to Lawrence Street. 
 
There were no objections, more time was granted. 
 
#11349 
On a motion made by Councillor Craig Cormier and seconded by Councillor Karen Hardern, it was 
voted on call of the roll, eleven (11) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin Brooks, 
Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, Paul 
Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros to grant, An Application by EcoATM LLC, for a 
License to Deal in Second Hand Articles at 677 Timpany Blvd—Inside Walmart. 
 
#11350 
Due to a potential conflict of interest, President Elizabeth Kazinskas recused herself and stepped away 
from this matter. Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz conducted the meeting. 
 
On a motion made by Councillor Craig Cormier and seconded by Councillor Karen Hardern, it was 
voted on call of the roll, ten (10) yeas, Councillors Calvin Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander 
Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, Paul Tassone, David Thibault-
Muñoz and George Tyros to grant, An Application by Gardner Ten Pins, Inc., for a Bowling Alley 
License at 560 W. Broadway. 
 

 
 
 



 
REGULAR MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 7 of 7 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

SERVICE COMMITTEE 
 

#11326 
A Petition by National Grid, Elm Street and Cross Street – relocate pole 1SO approximately 15 feet. 
 
Councillor Tyros requested for MORE TIME. 
 
There were no objections, more time was granted. 
 
#11385 
A Measure to Grant National Grid an Easement to Install a Transformer at 95 Pleasant Street. 
 
Councillor David Thibault-Muñoz requested MORE TIME. 
 
There were no objections, more time was granted. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

There was no new business. 
 

CLOSING PRAYER 
 

President Kazinskas led the Council in the Closing Prayer. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

On a motion made by Councillor Craig Cormier and seconded by Councillor George Tyros, the meeting 
adjourned at 7:55pm. 
 
11 yeas, the motion passes. 
 
 



 
SPECIAL MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 19, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Page 1 of 4 
 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

Special Meeting of the City Council was held in the City Council Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, on 
Thursday evening, September 19, 2024. 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
Council President Elizabeth Kazinskas called the meeting to order at 7:00 o’clock p.m.  
 

ATTENDANCE 
 
Assistant City Clerk Jayen Kumar called the Roll of Members. Nine (9) Councillors present were 
present including President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin Brooks, Aleksander 
Dernalowicz Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, David Thibault-Muñoz and George 
Tyros; Councillors Craig Comier and Paul Tassone were absent.   

 
OPEN MEETING RECORDING & PUBLIC RECORDS ANNOUNCEMENT 

 
President Kazinskas announced to the assembly that the Open Meeting Recording and Public 
Records Announcement. Any person may make a video or audio recording of an open session 
of a meeting or may transmit the meeting through any medium subject to reasonable 
requirements of the chair as to the number placement and operation of equipment used so as 
not to interfere with the conduct of the meeting. Any person intending to make such 
recordings shall notify the Chair forthwith. All documents and exhibits used or referenced at 
the meeting must be submitted in duplicate to the chair as they become part of the meeting 
minutes pursuant to General Law Chapter 38 Section 20. 
 
Paul DeMeo, 9 Willis Road, Gardner, MA, announced he may or may not be recording the meeting. 
 
#11394 – Discussion of the New City Park at the Location of the Former Maki Block. 
 
On a motion made by Councillor George Tyros, seconded by Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz, it 
was voted that the Council, under section 25, investigate the newly constructed Park, commonly 
referred to as Maki Park, that the Council President appoint a Councillor to lead the investigation on 
their behalf and report to the whole Council of their findings. 
 
Councillor Calvin Brooks would like to the City Council for objecting to this item at the last meeting. 
He should have been prepared to discuss this, but he was not. Next time he will remember to ask for 
a short recess instead. 
 
9 yeas, the motion passes. 
 
 
 
 



 
SPECIAL MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 19, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Page 2 of 4 
 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

Adjournment 
 
Motion made by Councillor Judy Mack, seconded by Councillor George Tyros to adjourn. 
 
The Special Meeting concluded at 7:06 p.m. 
 
9 yeas, the motion passes. 
 
Accepted by the City Council:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Proposed response from the Law Department for items #11335, 11336, 11337, 11338, 11339, 
11340, 11341, 11342, 11343, 11344, 11345, 11346, 11347, and 11347: 
 
DATE 
VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 
 
RE: Open Meeting Law Complaints dated 7/15/2024 regarding the July 1, 2024, City Council 
Meeting Reply 
 
Dear         , 



 
SPECIAL MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 19, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Page 3 of 4 
 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

 
The city has received fourteen (14) Open Meeting Law complaints including your Open 
Meeting Law Complaint served on July 15, 2024. Whereas the deadline to respond to your 
Complaint is August 2, 2024, this response to your Complaint is timely. The Complaints all 
present two (2) issues. 
 
The first issue is whether the Open Meeting law was violated by the city’s use of an overflow 
room. The city determined it needed to prepare for a larger crowd. Once this determination 
was made, Attorney General Determination Letters were reviewed as guidance. Two options 
were presented. First, was to locate the public meeting in Perry Auditorium. Alternatively, 
the second option was to use Perry Auditorium as a location to accommodate an overflow 
crowd. City personnel conferred about these options, and it was decided Perry Auditorium 
would be used as an overflow room. We respect the fact that reasonable minds may differ on 
this decision, however, the use of the overflow room has been approved by the Attorney 
General. For these reasons, it is respectfully suggested that the use of a second room to 
accommodate a large crowd does not violate the Open Meeting Law. 
 
Secondly, the Complaints raise an issue with the quality of the audio in the Perry Auditorium. 
The city respectfully disagrees with the assertion that the audio was poor. Staff were assigned 
to assess and set up audio and visual equipment prior to the meeting. The equipment was tested 
to ensure it would perform as expected, permitting those attending to hear and see the meeting. 
The equipment did perform when tested before the meeting by producing a clear audio signal. 
In addition, additional city staff were present during the meeting to assist members of the 
public to ensure they would be able to participate in the Public Meeting. After the meeting 
ended, city personnel who attended the meeting in Perry Auditorium reported that its content 
was clear and that the speakers were able to be understood. The first time a complaint was 
received by the city was when the public hearing was posted for the vote on the underlying 
matter. 
 
The number of complaints received by the city in connection with this matter was concerning 
as we have had a public hearing scheduled on July 23, 2024, and the overflow room was set up 
in a similar manner. However, the city has taken additional steps to confirm compliance with 
the requirements of the Open Meeting Law by ensuring the audio-visual equipment in Perry 
Auditorium will allow those in attendance to both see and hear the meeting. This included 
retesting the equipment, adding a test at the beginning of the meeting, having city employees 
monitor the quality of the audio, have the same people reporting to the Council and suspending 
the meeting when technical difficulties occurred. Finally, the July 23, 2024, meeting in Perry 
Auditorium was recorded. To listen to the recording of the July 23, 2024 meeting please use 
this link https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1SIzP1boCAWabTA4tz2E6rkedN2caiAZ-

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1SIzP1boCAWabTA4tz2E6rkedN2caiAZ-?usp=sharing


 
SPECIAL MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 19, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Page 4 of 4 
 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

?usp=sharing. It is respectfully suggested that this recording exemplifies the experience that 
attendees had in Perry Auditorium on July 1, 2024. 
 
It is for these reasons that the meeting of July 1, 2024, did not violate the Open Meeting 
Law. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
Cc: Michael Nicholson, Mayor 
Titi Siriphan, City Clerk 
Elizabeth Doiron, Assistant City Clerk 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts Attorney General’s Office 
Elizabeth Kazinskas, City Council President 

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1SIzP1boCAWabTA4tz2E6rkedN2caiAZ-?usp=sharing


 
REGULAR MEETING OF OCTOBER 7, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 1 of 6 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

Regular Meeting of the City Council was held in the City Council Chamber, Room 219, City Hall, on 
Monday evening, October 7, 2024.  
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
Council President Elizabeth Kazinskas called the meeting to order at 7:30pm.  
 

CALL OF THE ROLL 
 
City Clerk Titi Siriphan called the Roll of Members. Ten (10) Councillors were present including 
Councillors Calvin Brooks, Craig Cormier, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Elizabeth 
Kazinskas, Judy Mack, Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros. Councillor Aleksander 
Dernalowicz was absent. 
 

OPENING PRAYER 
 
President Kazinskas led the Council in reciting the Opening Prayer. 
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
President Kazinskas led the Council in reciting the “Pledge of Allegiance”. 
 

OPEN MEETING RECORDING & PUBLIC RECORDS ANNOUNCEMENT 
 
President Kazinskas announced to the assembly that the Open Meeting Recording and Public 
Records Announcement. Any person may make a video or audio recording of an open session of a 
meeting or may transmit the meeting through any medium subject to reasonable requirements of the 
chair as to the number placement and operation of equipment used so as not to interfere with the 
conduct of the meeting. Any person intending to make such recordings shall notify the Chair 
forthwith. All documents and exhibits used or referenced at the meeting must be submitted in 
duplicate to the chair as they become part of the meeting minutes pursuant to General Law Chapter 
38 Section 20. 
 

READING OF MINUTES OF PRIOR MEETING(S) 
 

On a motion made by Councillor Craig Cormier and seconded by Councillor Dana Heath, it was 
voted, ten (10) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin Brooks, Craig Cormier, 
Dana Heath, Karen Hardern, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and 
George Tyros to waive the reading and accept the MINUTES of July 23, 2024, Informal Meeting, July 
23, 2024 Public Hearing, and July 31, 2024 Special Meeting. 
 
 



 
REGULAR MEETING OF OCTOBER 7, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 2 of 6 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

There were no public hearings. 
 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR 
 

#11395    
On a motion made by Councillor Judy Mack and seconded by Councillor Paul Tassone, it was voted, 
ten (10) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin Brooks, Craig Cormier, Karen 
Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros 
to place on file, A Communication from the Mayor Regarding the Certification of Valuations Changes 
and Qualified Comparable Sales – LA3. 
 
#11396 
On a motion made by Councillor Judy Mack and seconded by Councillor Paul Tassone, it was voted, 
ten (10) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin Brooks, Craig Cormier, Karen 
Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros 
to place on file, A Communication from the Mayor Regarding the Certification of City Valuations- 
LA4. 
 
#11397 
On a motion made by Councillor Judy Mack and seconded by Councillor Paul Tassone, it was voted, 
ten (10) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin Brooks, Craig Cormier, Karen 
Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros 
to place on file, A Communication from the Mayor Regarding the Certification of New Growth – LA13. 
 
#11398 
On a motion made by Councillor Judy Mack and seconded by Councillor Paul Tassone, it was voted, 
ten (10) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin Brooks, Craig Cormier, Karen 
Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros 
to place on file, A Communication from the Mayor Regarding City Employee Health Insurance Rates. 
 
 
#11393 
On a motion made by Councillor Judy Mack and seconded by Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz, it 
was voted on call of the roll, eleven (11) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin 
Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, 
Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros to grant the measure: 
 

AN ORDER TO RENAME THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 62 WATERFORD STREET AS THE 
“WATERFORD COMMUNITY CENTER” 

 



 
REGULAR MEETING OF OCTOBER 7, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 3 of 6 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARDNER AS FOLLOWS: 
 
VOTED:    that the building located at 62 Waterford Street, further identified on the Gardner Assessor’s 
map as Parcel M22-13-4, that was previously named “Waterford Street School,” be officially designated 
and re-named as the Waterford Community Center. 
 
#11394 
Councillor George Tyros informed the Council that through the Authority Under section 25 of the city 
Charter, initiate an investigation into if anything did indeed go wrong with the construction of the 
former park at Maki block, how, if any errors did occur, and what remedies the city may take to address 
any problems and possible process improvement in the future. Furthermore, that the council president 
appointed counselor to undertake the investigation and report back to the full council at the earliest 
time that a thorough recounting of the facts may be made.  
 
Under section 28 of the city’s charter, Councillor Calvin Brooks objected to the motion. No further 
action can be taken and will be postponed for the next meeting. 
 

ORDERS 
 

#11389 
On a motion made by Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz and seconded by Councillor Judy Mack, it 
was voted on call of the roll, eleven (11) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin 
Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, 
Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros to remove the order from the calendar, An 
Order Authorizing $12,139.35 Payment of Previous Fiscal Year Bill for Public Building Utilities- 
Mayor’s Unclassified Account. 
 

REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
#11289 
An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Part 1, thereof entitled, “Administrative 
Legislation”. 
 
Councillor Alek Dernalowicz requested for MORE TIME. 
 
There were no objections, more time was granted. 
 
#11370 
An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 590, thereof entitled “Solid Waste” 
to change the fee for solid waste collections. 
 



 
REGULAR MEETING OF OCTOBER 7, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 4 of 6 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

President Kazinskas informed the Council that there was not enough time between the 1st Printing 
Publication and the next action.  Because of the insufficient time, the item will remain on the 
calendar and action will be taken at the next meeting. 
 
There were no objections, item remains on the calendar. 
 
#11371 
An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 553, thereof entitled “Sewer 
Rates”. 
 
President Kazinskas informed the Council that there was not enough time between the 1st Printing 
Publication and the next action.  Because of the insufficient time, the item will remain on the 
calendar and action will be taken at the next meeting. 
 
There were no objections, item remains on the calendar. 
 
#11372 
An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Chapter 171, thereof entitled “Personnel” 
to amend Schedule E- Non-Union Compensation Schedule. 
 
President Kazinskas informed the Council that there was not enough time between the 1st Printing 
Publication and the next action.  Because of the insufficient time, the item will remain on the 
calendar and action will be taken at the next meeting. 
 
There were no objections, item remains on the calendar. 
 
#11387 
On a motion made by Councillor Judy Mack and seconded by Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz, it 
was voted on call of the roll, eleven (11) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin 
Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, 
Paul Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros to grant the resolution: 
 
 

A RESOLUTION RELATING TO THE FUTURE OF COLEMAN STREET SCHOOL 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Gardner has owned a building at 68 Coleman Street, known as Coleman Street 
School; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Gardner has not used this property for municipal purposes for a number of 
years; and 
 



 
REGULAR MEETING OF OCTOBER 7, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 5 of 6 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

WHEREAS, the organization Making Opportunity Count, formerly known as the Montachusett 
Opportunity Council (MOC), has utilized the space for many years to house the Head Start Program, 
benefitting many Gardner families and youth; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, The Gardner City Council formally requests the Mayor to 
study and report with his recommendations the declaration of surplus and later disposal of the building 
at 68 Coleman Street, known as Coleman Street School, by lease or sale. 
 

SAFETY COMMITTEE 
 
#11204 
Councillor Craig Cormier informed the Council that the Public Safety Committee had a public hearing 
on this ordinance and several members of the public submitted their concerns. The recommendation 
from the Public Safety Committee is to send this ordinance back to the Traffic Commission for 
additional feedback and information. 
 
Councillor Craig Cormier requested more time on, An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of 
Gardner, Chapter 600, Entitled “Vehicles and Traffic”, Section 24, Entitled "Parking Prohibited on 
Certain Streets” – Edgell Street, from Elm Street to Lawrence Street. 
 
There were no objections, more time was granted. 
 
#11349 
On a motion made by Councillor Craig Cormier and seconded by Councillor Karen Hardern, it was 
voted on call of the roll, eleven (11) yeas, President Elizabeth Kazinskas and Councillors Calvin Brooks, 
Craig Cormier, Aleksander Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, Paul 
Tassone, David Thibault-Muñoz and George Tyros to grant, An Application by EcoATM LLC, for a 
License to Deal in Second Hand Articles at 677 Timpany Blvd—Inside Walmart. 
 
#11350 
Due to a potential conflict of interest, President Elizabeth Kazinskas recused herself and stepped away 
from this matter. Councillor Aleksander Dernalowicz conducted the meeting. 
 
On a motion made by Councillor Craig Cormier and seconded by Councillor Karen Hardern, it was 
voted on call of the roll, ten (10) yeas, Councillors Calvin Brooks, Craig Cormier, Aleksander 
Dernalowicz, Karen Hardern, Dana Heath, Brad Heglin, Judy Mack, Paul Tassone, David Thibault-
Muñoz and George Tyros to grant, An Application by Gardner Ten Pins, Inc., for a Bowling Alley 
License at 560 W. Broadway. 
 

 
 
 



 
REGULAR MEETING OF OCTOBER 7, 2024 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 6 of 6 
 

 

CITY OF GARDNER     IN CITY COUNCIL 

SERVICE COMMITTEE 
 

#11326 
A Petition by National Grid, Elm Street and Cross Street – relocate pole 1SO approximately 15 feet. 
 
Councillor Tyros requested for MORE TIME. 
 
There were no objections, more time was granted. 
 

WELFARE COMMITTEE 
 

#11385 
A Measure to Grant National Grid an Easement to Install a Transformer at 95 Pleasant Street. 
 
Councillor David Thibault-Muñoz requested MORE TIME. 
 
There were no objections, more time was granted. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

There was no new business. 
 

CLOSING PRAYER 
 

President Kazinskas led the Council in the Closing Prayer. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

On a motion made by Councillor Craig Cormier and seconded by Councillor George Tyros, the meeting 
adjourned at 7:55pm. 
 
11 yeas, the motion passes. 
 
 



11450



11450



11450



11450



11451



11451



11451



11451



11455



From: Mayor
To: Titi Siriphan
Cc: Elizabeth Kazinskas
Subject: FW: Attorney Flick Retiring As City Solicitor - January 7, 2025
Date: Thursday, December 12, 2024 2:39:39 PM
Attachments: image001.png

Hi Madam Clerk,
 
Can you please include this correspondence as supplemental materials alongside Attorney
Pusateri’s appointment certificate notifications?
 
Best,
 
Mike
 

Michael J. Nicholson
Mayor of the City of Gardner
Gardner City Hall, Rm 125
95 Pleasant St
Gardner, MA 01440

From: Mayor 
Sent: Monday, November 18, 2024 5:43 PM
To: Katharine Jablonski <kjablonski@gardner-ma.gov>; Rachel Roberts (Mayor's Office)
<Mayor_Secretary@gardner-ma.gov>
Subject: Attorney Flick Retiring As City Solicitor - January 7, 2025

 
To all Department Heads, Board Chairs, and City Councilors,
 
After 17 years of service to the City of Gardner, City Solicitor John Flick has announced his
retirement from the City as of January 7, 2025. Attorney Flick made this decision last summer
after much contemplation. Attorney Flick will continue his private practice and looks forward
to focusing on his private practice.
 

11455

mailto:Mayor@gardner-ma.gov
mailto:tsiriphan@gardner-ma.gov
mailto:ekazinskas@gardner-ma.gov



In discussing the transition of the Law Department, I will be appointing Assistant City Solicitor
Vincent Pusateri as City Solicitor following Attorney Flick’s retirement. Many of you have had
an opportunity to work with Attorney Pusateri since his appointment as the Assistant City
Solicitor. In order to assist this transition, please include Attorney Pusateri in all e-mail
communications with the Law Department. Attorney Pusateri’s e-mail is
vpusateri@pusaterilaw.com.

Best,

Mike

Michael J. Nicholson
Mayor of the City of Gardner
Gardner City Hall, Rm 125
95 Pleasant St
Gardner, MA 01440

11455

mailto:vpusateri@pusaterilaw.com


11456



11452



11452



11453



11453



11453



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 

Report On The Investigation Of 

The Maki Park Project 

Councillor George Tyros 

Gardner City Council  

Pursuant to Section 25 of the City Charter 

Gardner Massachusetts 

December 2024 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................ 2 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .............................................................................................................. 3 

DATA COLLECTION AND INVESTIGATION METHODOLOGY ........................................... 4 

OBSERVATIONS AND FINDINGS .............................................................................................. 5 

OBSERVATIONS OF THE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF MAKI PARK .................. 5 

FINDINGS OF THE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF MAKI PARK .............................. 7 

EXHIBITS ........................................................................................................................................ 9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

2 

INTRODUCTION 

This report is submitted to the City Council of Gardner, pursuant to Section 25 of the City Charter, which 

states that, “The council, or any committee thereof duly authorized by the council so to do, may 

investigate the financial transactions of any office or department of the city government, and the official 

acts and conduct of any official, and, by similar investigations, may secure information upon any matter.” 

The purpose of this report is to determine the circumstances which lead to the newly constructed Maki 

Park differing from what was originally presented to the City Council when it appropriated funds for the 

project over two years before its eventual completion and to provide recommendations of ways to prevent 

a similar situation from occurring in the future. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

Councillor George Tyros  

11454

Mobile User



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

3 

REPORT ON THE INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 

On September 19th 2024, the Gardner City Council voted unanimously to initiate a Section 25 

City Charter investigation regarding the newly constructed Maki Park and to authorize the Council 

President to assign one Councillor to conduct the investigation and then report their findings to the City 

Council. The following information summarizes the purpose, process and findings of that investigation. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Maki Park project in Gardner, Massachusetts, was initiated to transform the lot at the former 

Maki Block building into a new park, addressing significant slope issues and ensuring Americans with 

Disabilities Act compliance. The Gardner City Council, at the request of the Mayor, appropriated funds 

for the project in June of 2022. Upon its completion in September of 2024, concerns were raised by the 

public regarding the park’s lack of ADA compliance, prompting an investigation by the City Council.  

The key issues and events that were examined include the following:  

The design of the park changed from initial concept to bid award. The conceptual layout, 

created by Tighe & Bond and presented to the City Council in June of 2022, showed three terraces with 

individual ramp entrances to each level. The Mayor’s letter supporting the project cited the terraces 

would, “correct the grading issues, bring the slopes to a level that is compliant with ADA standards, and 

allow us to utilize the area in a productive manner” (Exhibit A). However, in May of 2023 the Bid Set 

Drawings utilized during the public bidding process for the project clearly show entrances only to the 

bottom and top terraces, with stairs from each connecting them to the middle terrace (Exhibit O). 

The Department of Community Planning & Development did not apply for or obtain a 

building permit for the construction of Maki Park. The notice of violation by the Building 

Commissioner states, “Maki park does not meet the accessibility requirements as outlined in section 

19.00 of 521 CMR; Massachusetts Accessibility Code as the middle tier of the park is not accessible to 

persons with disabilities” (Exhibit B). This issue was confirmed by both the Building Commissioner and 

Director of Community Development and Planning during their investigation interviews.  

 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

4 

DATA COLLECTION AND INVESTIGATION METHODOLOGY 

Through email communication on September 25th 2024, Council President Elizabeth Kazinskas 

notified Mayor Michael Nicholson, Director of Community Development & Planning Trevor Beauregard, 

Auditor John Richard, Director of Purchasing Joshua Cormier and Building Commissioner Thomas 

Zuppa that she had assigned Councillor George Tyros to the investigation of the Maki Park Project. The 

following day, Councillor Tyros sent requests for documentation to Director Beauregard, Auditor 

Richard, Director Cormier and Commissioner Zuppa for initial review. The requests were as follows:  

Director Beauregard: All documentation pertinent to the design and engineering of the park as approved 

in August of 2021 as part of the City’s FY21 CDBG Mini-Entitlement Plan and as presented in June of 

2022 to the City Council. All documents pertinent to the project scope and requirements of construction 

of the park as contracted with the engineering firm and contractor.  Any written communication 

concerning this project. 

Auditor Richard: All invoices and warrants of funds used for the design, engineering and construction 

of Maki Park.  

Director Cormier: All documentation pertinent to the bidding process for Maki Park. 

Commissioner Zuppa: All documentation pertaining to the permits for construction of the park. 

Responses with relative documentation were received on September 27th from Auditor Richard and 

Commissioner Zuppa, September 30th from Director Cormier, October 9th from Director Beauregard (with 

complete submission on October 21st). 

The data from the responses included a folder of 157 files from the Director Beauregard. Those files 

included design illustrative plans, technical drawings, proposals, grant application narratives, cost 

estimates for labor and material, invoices, various construction photos, and various documents from the 

engineering and construction firms the City contracted with for Maki Park. Director Beauregard requested 

Director of Technology Bob O’Keefe to perform an email search for related communications for the Maki 

Park Project on October 2nd, which was completed October 21st, returning 1,772 emails. From those 

emails, Councillor Tyros observed 10 additional files and 29 emails that contained data relative to the 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

5 

investigation. Auditor Richard provided general ledger account details showing all invoices paid up to 

September 27th and copies of all warrants and invoices for Maki Park. Director Cormier provided bidding 

documents and the four change orders for the project. Commissioner Zuppa provided the issued electrical 

permit and violation letter for Maki Park. 

After performing the initial review of the submitted data, Councillor Tyros scheduled in-person 

interviews with Director Beauregard, Director Cormier, Commissioner Zuppa, Human Resource Director 

Amanda Morse and Mayor Nicholson on November 21st, to take place on December 6th in City Hall. The 

purpose of these interviews was to confirm information and findings from the document review and to 

seek opinions of process improvements moving forward.  

 

OBSERVATIONS AND FINDINGS 

OBSERVATIONS OF THE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF MAKI PARK 

In June of 2020, Director Beauregard created an initial concept of what would be known as Maki 

Park (Exhibit C). In that same month, the engineering firm Tighe & Bond was contacted by Director 

Beauregard to provide a scope of service for developing construction documents for the project for the 

purposes of submitting a grant proposal. Their design reflected the initial concept of a three-terrace park 

with individual ramps accessing each terrace (Exhibit A). This design was used in September of 2020, 

when Director Beauregard informed the Mayor via email that the City did not receive the requested funds 

from the MassDOT Shared Streets and Spaces Grant for the Maki Park Project as it did not meet the 

State’s timeline for being completed that year (Exhibit D). On January 19th 2021, the Community 

Development Block Grant Program Steering Committee, administered by the Department of Community 

Development and Planning, met to discuss FY21 block grant proposed projects, of which included “Maki 

Park Design” was accepted unanimously by the committee (Exhibit E). In April of 2021, Director 

Beauregard and Director of Public Works Dane Arnold communicated regarding a new round of the 

Shared Streets and Spaces Grant Program being announced. Director Arnold expressed concerns relative 

to the slope of the proposed project lot towards the West and Parker Street side being problematic. 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

6 

Director Beauregard replied that occupying parking spaces in downtown for the program would not be a 

good idea and proposed the tiered gravel pad approach (Exhibit F). In May of 2021, Economic 

Development Coordinator Jessica DeRoy reached out to Tighe & Bond to request a revised probable cost 

estimate for the project for a new grant application to the Shared Streets and Spaces Grant Program. In the 

application, the response to how the project will be implemented, including staffing roles, was answered 

as “The City of Gardner Department of Community Development and Planning (DCDP) will manage the 

project. The Director of DCDP, Trevor Beauregard, will act as Project Manager for the project. The 

City’s Economic Development Coordinator, Jessica DeRoy, will assist the Director with day-to-day 

oversight” (Exhibit G). That December, Assistant Director of Community Development and Planning 

Lyndsy Butler also requested an opinion of probable cost for Maki Park from Tighe & Bond, for the 

purpose of putting together the FY22 CDBG grant budget. She stated that the process was behind and was 

looking at FY21 design projects to see about applying for construction funding in FY22 (Exhibit H). In 

the March 4th 2022 CDBG Steering Committee meeting, Maki Park design and construction was 

unanimously approved as a proposed project for Block Grant FY22 (Exhibit I). In June of 2022, Director 

Beauregard reached out to Tighe & Bond to ask if they could create a rendering for Maki Park at no cost 

due to not having any funds available to pay for one (Exhibit J). Later that month, Mayor Nicholson went 

to the City Council for an appropriation to construct Maki Park, which passed an 8-3 vote of the Council 

(Exhibit A). In September of 2022, Assistant Director Butler, through discussions with Tighe & Bond 

regarding bidding timeline and strategy, stated that the City had the funds available for construction of 

Maki Park (Exhibit K). In November of 2022, Director Beauregard informed Tighe & Bond that 

Coordinator DeRoy would be overseeing construction of the project. In that email contained a 75% 

Design Development document dated November 2022, which showed entrance to the park only by ramp 

access from the lower-tier, with concrete steps connecting the middle and upper-tiers (Exhibit L). When 

interviewed and asked why the change in design was made in November of 2022, Director Beauregard 

was not able to offer an explanation. That same month, concerns arose around the condition of the 

existing retaining wall at the North side of the lot. In an email communication from Tighe & Bond, 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

7 

regarding the same preliminary drawing, concerns were raised about the proposal likely being overbudget 

as options were being discussed on how to mitigate the retaining wall problem (Exhibit M). The next and 

final observed design change to the design of Maki Park was found in an April 2023 illustrative plan 

ordered by the Mayor and Department of Community Development and Planning, showing a three-terrace 

park with ramp access to the lower and upper-tiers and stairs connecting them to the middle-tier (Exhibit 

N). When interviewed and asked why the change in design was made in April of 2023, Director 

Beauregard was unable to offer an explanation. This illustrative plan matches the Bid Set Drawings that 

were submitted to Purchasing Director Cormier in May of 2023 (Exhibit O). This final plan reflects what 

was constructed as Maki Park at the time of this report.  

On September 3rd 2024, a work without a permit violation for Maki Park was sent to the 

Department of Community Development and Planning by the Building Commissioner. The violation 

letter states that the Building Commissioner’s office received plans for Maki Park on August 28th 2024 

and that the Commissioner conducted a site visit on August 29th 2024 and determined that Maki Park 

“does not meet the accessibility requirements as outlined in section 19.00 of 521 CMR; Massachusetts 

Accessibility Code as the middle tier of the park is not accessible to persons with disabilities” (Exhibit B). 

In interviews conducted by Councillor Tyros, both Director Beauregard and Commissioner Zuppa 

confirmed that no building permits were applied for or obtained for the Maki Park project.  

FINDINGS OF THE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF MAKI PARK 

The investigation into the Maki Park project revealed several key findings across various aspects, 

including design changes, project management, communication, and compliance with accessibility 

requirements.  

Initial Concept and Design Changes 

a. The original design for Maki Park, created by Director Beauregard and Tighe & Bond in 

June 2020, included three terraces with individual ramps for each level. This concept was 

what was presented to the City Council in June of 2022 for an appropriation. 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

8 

b. Design changes were made in November 2022 and April 2023 without documented 

reasons. 

c. The final design, as shown in the May 2023 Bid Set Drawings, included ramp access only 

to the lower and upper terraces, with stairs connecting the middle terrace. This was the 

design that was constructed in the late summer and fall of 2024. 

Project Management  

d. The project began with Director Beauregard as project manager, and Economic 

Development Coordinator DeRoy initially assigned to the project. Other members of the 

Department of Community Development and Planning were involved in the project in 

various capacities.   

e. There was no record of routine or scheduled project updates nor review meetings held by 

the Department of Community Development and Planning. 

Communication  

f. There were multiple instances of messages, both internally amongst members of the 

Department of Community Development and Planning, and externally with other City 

departments and contractors, looking for project files and documents (such as drawings, 

budget sheets, account numbers, vendor contact information, etc.). 

Compliance and Accessibility 

g. The final design submitted for bidding in May 2023 did not include ramp access to the 

middle terrace. 

h. A notice of violation from the Building Commissioner stated that Maki Park did not meet 

accessibility requirements of the Massachusetts State Building Code. 

 

 

 

 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

9 

 

EXHIBITS 

  

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

10 

EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

11 

EXHIBIT A  
(CONT’D) 

 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

12 

 

EXHIBIT B 

  

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

13 

EXHIBIT B  
(CONT’D) 

 

 

 

 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

14 

EXHIBIT C 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

15 

EXHIBIT D 

 

 

  

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

16 

EXHIBIT E 

 

 

 

  

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

17 

EXHIBIT F 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

18 

EXHIBIT G 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

19 

EXHIBIT H 

 

 

 

 

 

  

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

20 

EXHIBIT I 

 

 

 

 

 

  

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

21 

EXHIBIT J 

 

 

 

 

 

  

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

22 

 

EXHIBIT K 

 

 

  

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

23 

EXHIBIT L 

 

 

 

 

 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

24 

EXHIBIT M 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

25 

EXHIBIT N 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

11454



INVESTIGATION OF THE MAKI PARK PROJECT 
 

 

26 

EXHIBIT O 

 

 

 

11454



11444 a



11444 a



11444 b



11444 b



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



XXXXXXXXXXXXXX

11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11445



11446



11446



11446



11446



11447



11289



11289



AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF THE CITY OF GARDNER, PART 1, 
THEREOF ENTITLED, “ADMINISTRATIVE LEGISLATION”  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARDNER AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: Chapter 13 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Council on Aging” be 
deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 2: Chapter 22 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Assessing Department,” 
be deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 3: Chapter 31 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Building Department,” be 
deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 4: Chapter 34 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled "Capital Improvement 
Planning Committee,” be deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 5: Chapter 39 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Cemetery Commission,” 
be deleted in its entirety. 

SECTION 6: Chapter 45 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “City Council,” be deleted 
in its entirety. 

SECTION 7: Chapter 50 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Community Development 
and Planning,” be deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 8: Chapter 62 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Disability Commission,” 
be deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 9: Chapter 75 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Emergency 
Management,” be deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 10: Chapter 87 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Fire Department,” be 
deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 11: Chapter 92 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Flags,” be deleted in its 
entirety. 

SECTION 12: Chapter 106 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Historical 
Commission,” be deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 13: Chapter 110 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Holidays,” be deleted 
in its entirety. 

SECTION 14: Chapter 113 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Human Resources 
Department,” be deleted in its entirety.  

11289



 
SECTION 15: Chapter 118 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled "Information 
Technology Department,” be deleted in its entirety.  
 
SECTION 16: Chapter 140 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled "Law Department,” be 
deleted in its entirety.  
 
SECTION 17: Chapter 152 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Municipal Golf Course 
Commission,” be deleted in its entirety.  
 
SECTION 18: Chapter 156 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Municipal Grounds 
Commission,” be deleted in its entirety. 
 
SECTION 19: Chapter 160 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Officers and 
Employees,” be deleted in its entirety.  
 
SECTION 20: Chapter 182 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Planning Board,” be 
deleted in its entirety.  
 
SECTION 21: Chapter 193 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled "Police Department,” be 
deleted in its entirety. 
 
SECTION 22: Chapter 217 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Department of Public 
Works,” be deleted in its entirety.  
 
SECTION 23: Chapter 221 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Purchasing/Civil 
Enforcement Department,” be deleted in its entirety.  
 
SECTION 24: Chapter 252 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Seal,” be deleted in its 
entirety.  
 
SECTION 25: Chapter 264 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Survey Department,” 
be deleted in its entirety.  
 
SECTION 26: Chapter 275 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Traffic Commission,” 
be deleted in its entirety.  
 
SECTION 27: Chapter 290 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Youth Commission,” 
be deleted in its entirety.   
 
SECTION 28: Chapter 298 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Airport,” be deleted in 
its entirety. 
 
SECTION 29: That a new Chapter 2 be added to the Code of the City of Gardner, to be entitled 
“Seal and other Emblems of the City,” as follows:  
 

11289



Section 1: City Seal.  
 
A. The Seal of the City of Gardner shall be a circle two inches in diameter having 

in the center a representation of Colonel Thomas Gardner with sword in hand; 
in the background Crystal Lake and Monadnock Mountain; within the inner 
circle, five small circles, the one at the top enclosing a chair, the ones on the 
sides each enclosing the letter "W," the one at the bottom at the left enclosing 
the letter "A" and the one at the bottom at the right enclosing the letter "T"; and 
in the margin the inscription "Gardner, A Town June 27, 1785, A City January 
1, 1923," the whole to be arranged according to the impression hereto annexed. 

 
B.  Deeds.  
 
a. All deeds given by the City shall be sealed with the City Seal and shall be 

signed and acknowledged in behalf of the City by the Mayor. 
 
C.  Use of Seal.  

 
a. The City Clerk shall be keeper of the City Seal but shall permit the Mayor or 

any other City officer to affix the same to any document to which the Seal is 
required to be affixed. 

 
Section 2. Flag of the City of Gardner  
 
A. Description 

  
a. The Flag of the City of Gardner shall consist of a navy-blue rectangular field 

bearing on either side a representation of the Seal of the City of Gardner in 
white.  

 
Section 3. Elected Official Oath of Office 
 
A. Mayoral Oath of Office  

 
Pursuant to the Charter of the City of Gardner and the General Laws of the 
Commonwealth, the following oath shall be used to swear in the Mayor-Elect 
of the City:  
 
“I, (insert name), Do Solemnly Swear That I Will Bear True Faith And 
Allegiance To The Commonwealth Of Massachusetts And The City Of 
Gardner, And Will Support The Constitution And The Charter Thereof, (So 
Help Me God.) 
 
I, (insert name), Do Solemnly Swear And Affirm, That I Will Faithfully And 
Impartially Discharge And Perform All Of The Duties Incumbent On Me As 
Mayor Of The City Of Gardner According To The Best Of My Abilities And 

11289



Understanding, Agreeably, To The Rules And Regulations Of The 
Constitution And The Laws Of The Commonwealth and the Ordinances and 
Charter of the City of Gardner. (So Help Me God.) 
 
I, (insert name), Do Solemnly Swear That I Will Support The Constitution Of 
The United States. (So Help Me God.)” 
 

B. City Council Oath of Office; At-Large and Ward   
 

Pursuant to the Charter of the City of Gardner and the General Laws of the 
Commonwealth, the following oath shall be used to swear in the City 
Councilors-Elect of the City:  
 
I, (insert name), do solemnly swear that I will faithfully and impartially 
discharge and perform the duties of City Councilor according to law and the 
best of my abilities. (so help me God.)  

  
C. School Committee Oath of Office  

 
Pursuant to the Charter of the City of Gardner and the General Laws of the 
Commonwealth, the following oath shall be used to swear in the School 
Committee Members- Elect of the City:  
 
I, (insert name), do solemnly swear that I will faithfully and impartially 
discharge and perform the duties of School Committee Member according to 
law and the best of my abilities. (so help me God.)  

 
Section 4: Colonel Thomas Gardner Day  
 

Whereas history is prologue, and it is important that our children be cognizant 
of our past, especially the early sacrifices that established the freedom and 
democracy we enjoy today, annually, on or before the 19th of April, the Mayor 
shall officially designate Patriots Day as Colonel Thomas Gardner Day in the 
City of Gardner and shall cause a proclamation to be issued and read in all the 
schools of Gardner, to honor this patriot who died of wounds received during 
the Battle of Bunker Hill and for whom our beloved community was named. 

 
Section 5: Flags 
 

A. Flag at Half-Mast following death of Veteran 
 

The flag of the United States of America shall be flown at half-mast on all 
buildings owned or controlled by the City of Gardner after the death of a 
veteran who has served honorably in the Armed Forces of the United States 
and shall continue to be flown at half-mast every day until the burial of said 
veteran. 

11289



 

B. Authority of the Mayor 

i. The Mayor of the City of Gardner shall have the authority to have the flag 
of the United States flown at half-mast by virtue of a state and/or federal 
proclamation. 

ii. The Mayor of the City of Gardner shall have the authority to have the flag 
of the City of Gardner flown at half-mast by proclamation by the Mayor.  

SECTION 30: That a new Chapter 3 be added to the Code of the City of Gardner entitled 
“Personnel, Appointments, and Employment,” as follows:  

Section 1: Compensation 
 

The salaries and compensation of any City employee who receives compensation 
and any other employees of any of the departments, boards, committees, and 
commissions shall be established in the ordinances designating salaries and wages 
for the City employees, except those employees of the School Department or those 
covered by collective bargaining agreements. 

 
Section 2: Appointment 
 
Subject to the provisions of the Charter of the City of Gardner and the General 
Laws of the Commonwealth, all those appointed to positions in the City shall be 
appointed by the Mayor, subject to confirmation by majority vote of the City 
Council, for a period of three (3) years, unless otherwise stated.   

 
Section 3: Oath of Office  

 
A. Failure by anyone duly appointed and confirmed by majority vote of the City 

Council, Mayor, Joint Convention, Fire Chief, or other appointing authority as 
designated by law, to take their respective oath of office within sixty (60) days 
of the date on which their appointment was confirmed by majority vote of the 
City Council shall be considered forfeiture of the office and shall be deemed a 
vacancy in the position. 
 

B. Oath of Office  
 

Pursuant to the Charter of the City of Gardner and the General Laws of the 
Commonwealth, the following oath shall be used to swear in all appointed 
officials of the City of Gardner, except those appointed to the Gardner Police 
Department, whose oath shall be given as prescribed by the General Laws of 
the Commonwealth and the Code of the United States.  
 

11289



I, (insert name), do solemnly swear that I will faithfully and impartially 
perform the duties of (insert position title) according to law and the best of my 
abilities. (so help me God.)  

 

Section 4: Temporary Appointments 

In case of a vacancy in any office, appointment to which is made by the Mayor, 
which vacancy is caused by the incapacity, death, resignation or expiration of the 
term of the incumbent, the filling of which is not provided for by law, the Mayor, 
without confirmation by the City Council, shall appoint a temporary officer to 
serve until a successor to such incapacitated, deceased or resigned officer, or 
officer whose term has expired, is duly appointed and qualified in accordance with 
law, but no such temporary officer shall in any event be appointed hereunder to 
serve for a period longer sixty (60) days for all Department Head positions, and 
ninety (90) days for all other officers and positions appointed by the Mayor, unless 
otherwise defined by the General Laws of the Commonwealth. 

Section 5: Powers and Duties of Temporary Officers 

Except as otherwise provided by the General Laws, City Charter or other 
ordinance, any temporary officer so appointed shall, during the time he fills the 
position to which he is appointed under this article, exercise all the powers and 
perform all the duties of the officer in whose place he serves. 

Section 6: Job Descriptions 

A. All positions in the City shall have a job description outlining the duties of the 
position on file in the City’s Human Resources Department that has been approved 
by both majority vote of the City Council and the Mayor.  
 

B. Any changes made to the job description of a position of a Department Head must 
first be approved by majority vote of the City Council before becoming effective.  

 
Section 7: Employees  

The City may hire employees for any city department, entity, board, commission, 
and any subdivision subject to appropriation approved by the City Council, in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Gardner.   

 Section 8: Vacancies  

Any vacancies that occur in any positions appointed position shall be filled in the 
same manner by which the position was appointed. The successor who fills said 
vacancy shall serve for the unfinished remainder of the term of office in which the 
vacancy occurred before said successor shall be appointed to a full term.  

11289



SECTION 30: That a new “PART II” be added, to be entitled “LEGISLATIVE BRANCH” be 
added to include Chapter 4 and Chapter 5, with the current, “PART II: GENERAL 
LEGISLATION” section be re-numbered accordingly as “PART III” 
 
SECTION 31: That a new Chapter 4 be added to the Code of the City of Gardner to be entitled, 
“City Council,” as follows:  
 

Article 1: Meetings:  
 
Section 1: Regular Meetings.  
 
A. Regular meetings of the City Council of the City of Gardner shall be held as 

follows: the first and third Mondays of January, February, March, April, 
May, June, September, October, November, and December and on the first 
Mondays of July and August. Whenever a meeting falls on a legal holiday, 
the meeting shall be held the following night at the same time.  

 
B. All regular meetings shall be called at 7:30 p.m. in the Council Chamber in 

the City Hall. In the event a public emergency or other condition renders it 
impracticable for the Council to hold a meeting on the day of a scheduled 
meeting, or in the City Hall, the Council President, upon consultation with at 
least two other Councilors, may direct the meeting be held on another day or 
at such other location that encourages maximum public participation. 

 
C. In the event a regular meeting falls on the evening of a state or City primary 

or election, the meeting shall be held on the following day at the scheduled 
time. 

 
Section 2: Special meetings. 
 
A. Special meetings of the City Council may be called by the President or shall 

be called at any time upon the written request therefor being made to the 
City Clerk by at least two members of the Council. 
 

Article II: Legal Counsel 
 
Section 3: Legal counsel. 
 
A. The City Council shall have the authority to retain independent legal counsel 

of its own selection from time to time by majority vote, and legal counsel 
shall be a member of the Bar of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts in 
good standing. 
 

B. Legal counsel shall assist the City Council in the preparation and 
formulation of legislation and in the rendering of opinions concerning legal 
matters, either of a substantive or procedural nature, the provisions of the 

11289



Code of the City of Gardner notwithstanding. 
 

C. Any invoice or charge for payment from said legal counsel shall be paid 
from the City Council budget. 

 
SECTION 32: That a new Chapter 5, be added to the Code of the City of Gardner to be entitled, 
“Legislative Departments.”  

Section 1: Office of the City Clerk  

A. There shall be an Office of the City Clerk established, overseen by the City Clerk, 
as defined by the City Charter.  
 

B. The City Clerk may appoint up to two (2) Assistant City Clerks for a term of three 
(3) years, subject to confirmation by the City Council, who shall be sworn to the 
faithful performance of duty and, in the absence of the City Clerk, may perform 
those duties and have the powers and be subject to the requirements and penalties 
applicable to that office.  

 
C. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to prevent the reappointment of an 

Assistant City Clerk upon the expiration of the term of office. 

SECTION 33: That a new “PART III” be added, to be entitled “EXECUTIVE BRANCH” to 
include Chapter 6 through Chapter 8.  
 
SECTION 34: That a new Chapter 6 be added to the Code of the City of Gardner to be entitled, 
“Executive Departments,” as follows:  
 

 
Section 1. Miscellaneous 
Unless appointed by means other than those listed in Section 2 of Chapter 3 of the 
Code of the City of Gardner, all Department Heads, Officers, Employees, Boards, 
and Commissions shall report to the Mayor and shall appear before the City Council 
whenever requested to do so, in writing by majority vote of the City Council.  
 
Section 2: Assessing Department  
 

A. Department Established and Employees  
 

a. An Assessing Department in the City of Gardner is hereby established under 
the charge of a board of up to five (5) but no less than three (3) Assessors, one 
of which shall serve as the City Assessor. 
 

b. The City Assessor shall serve full time as an Assessor and employee of the 
City of Gardner, who shall serve as the Department Head over the City’s 
Assessor’s Department.  

 

11289



 
Section 3: Building Department 
 

A. Department Established and Employees  
 
The position of Building Commissioner is hereby established and shall be a full-
time position. The duties of said Building Commissioner shall be those set forth in 
the General Laws of the Commonwealth and the Code of the City of Gardner.  

 
 
B. Electrical Inspection Division  

 
a. Division Established 

 
i. An Inspection of Wires Division of the Building Department is 

hereby established, the affairs of which shall be conducted by an 
officer known as the "Electrical Inspector," and such officer is 
hereby designated as the officer required by the General Laws of the 
Commonwealth and the Code of the City of Gardner. 
 

ii. Said Inspection of Wires Division and the Electrical Inspector shall 
be subject to the authority of the Mayor and the Building 
Commissioner, and, for fire alarm superintendent related activities, 
the Electrical Inspector shall report to the Building Commissioner 
and confer with the Fire Chief. 

 
b. Electrical Inspector  

 
i. The Mayor shall appoint an Electrical Inspector, subject to the 

provisions o the Code of the City of Gardner and the Charter of the 
City of Gardner. The Electrical Inspector shall be a licensed 
electrician in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  

ii. They shall keep an accurate record of the transactions of their office 
and shall report the same to the Building Commissioner on a 
monthly basis, to be reported to the Mayor as part of the Building 
Department’s Annual Report.  

 
C. Plumbing and Gas Inspection Division 

 
a. Division and Position Established  

 
An Inspection of Gas and Plumbing Division of the Building Department is 
hereby established, the affairs of which shall be conducted by an officer 
known as the "Plumbing and Gas Inspector," and such officer is hereby 
designated. The Plumbing and Gas Inspector shall be licensed to performing 
plumbing and gas work by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  

11289



 
b. Duties  

 
The Plumbing and Gas Inspector shall perform such duties as may be 
required in enforcing the rules and regulations established by authority of the 
Massachusetts Code for Installation of Gas Appliances and Gas Piping, the 
General Laws of the Commonwealth, and the Code of the City of Gardner 
as presently in force, and as may be amended and in force from time to time. 

 
Section 4: Department of Community Development and Planning  
 

A. Department Established; Director  
 

a. There shall be established in the City of Gardner a Community Development and 
Planning Department to be administered by a Director. 
 
Section 5: Engineering Department  
 

A.  Department established 
 
An Engineering Department is hereby established. It shall be under the charge and 
control of a graduate certified civil engineer who shall have the title of "City 
Engineer."  
 

B.  Department responsibilities.  
 
The Engineering Department shall be responsible for the following: 
 

A. Whenever any petition for laying out, making public, widening, altering, 
relocating, grading or discontinuing any way is presented to the Mayor and 
City Council, it shall be the duty of the Engineering Department to prepare 
a plan and estimate showing the probable cost of said work apportioned to 
the several estates liable for the same, together with the estimated cost of 
other assessable improvements, such as sewers and sidewalks, that may 
reasonably be necessitated by such proposed alteration, said cost likewise 
being apportioned to the respective estates. Said plan and estimate shall be 
furnished complete with the names and addresses of the owners of the several 
estates and the amounts assessable upon each of them.  

 
B. The Engineering Department shall have charge and custody of all plans of 

streets, sidewalks and bridges belonging to the City; it shall enter in a book 
to be kept for that purpose the names of all streets that shall be accepted, laid 
out and established by the City Council, with the boundaries and 
measurements thereof, the names of the owners of the land, if known, over 
or through which said streets or ways are located, and the estates bounding 
and abutting thereon; and shall keep a record of all sidewalks that are now 

11289



or may be hereafter laid out or established by the City Council, the width, 
height and grade of the same, stating the boundaries and measurements 
thereof, with the date of such laying out.  

 
C. To inspect all streets and ways being constructed under the Subdivision 

Control Law to ascertain whether said construction complies with plans filed 
pursuant to the Planning Board regulations, City ordinances and state statutes 
and to give to the Planning Board a report of its inspection prior to the release 
of any bond posted by the developer constructing said street and prior to the 
approval of said street by the Planning Board. 

 
D. Planning Board Engineer.  

 
Provide technical assistance to the Planning Board as required, including 
attendance at meetings one or two evenings per month. Duties will include: 
 

i. Review of site plans and subdivision plans, with particular emphasis 
on drainage and stormwater management. Prepare cost estimates 
where the developer must post bond or security in order to insure 
completion of infrastructure.  
 

ii. Inspect subdivision infrastructure (drainage, sanitary sewers, water 
mains, roads and sidewalks) during construction and submit periodic 
reports to the Planning Board.  
 

iii. Develop stormwater management practices and policies for 
subdrainage basins within the City.  

 
E. Zoning Board of Appeals/Conservation Commission reviews.  

 
At the request of the Zoning Board of Appeals/Conservation Commission 
review applications to the above bodies, with particular attention to potential 
effects on public underground utilities or streets and sidewalks. Provide 
technical advice and/or guidance when necessary to the public interest. 
 

F. Infiltration/Inflow Coordinator.  
 
Maintain records of all sanitary sewer and manhole inspections and 
repairs/rehabilitation which result in reduction of infiltration and/or inflow 
to the City’s sanitary sewer system. Quantify estimates of flow reduction due 
to these efforts and prepare and submit semiannual reports to the Department 
of Environmental Protection.  
 

G. Construction administration.  
 
Oversee construction contracts being performed directly for the Department 

11289



of Public Works, based on plans and specifications prepared by the 
Engineering Department. This task will include construction inspection and 
field documentation of as-built quantities and locations. This task will 
involve supervision of the City Engineer or other designee. 

 
Section 6: Fire Department 
 

A. Personnel 
 
The Fire Department of the City of Gardner shall consist of a Fire Chief and other 
such personnel as the Mayor, with the approval of the City Council, shall from time 
to time deem necessary, subject to appropriation. 
 

B. Appointment of Firefighters and Fire Department Personnel 
 
All appointments to the Fire Department shall be made by the Fire Chief and shall 
not be subject to confirmation by the City Council.  
 

C. Fire Chief  
 

i. The Fire Chief shall be the Department Head of the Fire Department, 
and shall have full and absolute control and command of the 
Department, its firefighters and members and other officers when 
engaged in the fire service of the City, or when assigned by him to any 
special duty.  
 

ii. The Chief of the Fire Department or, during their absence, the officer in 
charge of the Department hereby is authorized to go to another city, 
town or district for the purpose of aiding fire departments fire apparatus 
with personnel, and while in the performance of their duties in extending 
such aid, the members of the Department shall have the same 
immunities and privileges as if performing the same within the City of 
Gardner. 
 

iii. The Chief shall be exempt from the provisions of Chapter 31 of the 
General Laws in accordance with Chapter 284 of the Acts of 2012. 

 
Section 7: Human Resources Department  
 

A. Department Established 
 
There shall be established in the City of Gardner a Human Resources Department 
to be administered by a Director. 
 
Section 8: Information Technology Department  
 

11289



A. Department Established 
 
There shall be established in the City of Gardner an Information Technology 
Department to be administered by a Director. 

 
Section 9: Law Department 
 

A. Department Established 
 

i. There shall be established in the City of Gardner a Law Department to be 
administered by the City Solicitor with the assistance of an Assistant City 
Solicitor, if one has been appointed.  

 
ii. Said officers shall be members of the Bar of the Commonwealth of 

Massachusetts in good standing. 
 

iii. The Assistant City Solicitor shall be appointed by the Mayor, subject to 
confirmation by the City Council, for a term of one (1) year.  

 
iv. The City Solicitor and Assistant City Solicitor may be full time employees of 

the City or may be contracted law firms subject to the appropriations 
authorized by the City Council in the City’s annual operating budget, with the 
same appointment approval methods listed in this section for the City 
Solicitor and Assistant City Solicitor.  

 
B. Issuance of Written Legal Opinions  

 
i. The Law Department shall furnish written legal opinions when so requested 

by the Mayor, City Council by vote of the Council or request of the City 
Council President, the chairperson of a City committee upon vote of that 
committee, or the head of any City Department with the approval of the 
Mayor.  
 

ii. Said written legal opinions shall be issued by the City’s Law Department no 
later than thirty (30) days upon receipt of the request.  

 
iii. The Law Department shall provide the Mayor with a copy of all written 

legal opinions issued pursuant to this section.  
 
Section 10: Police Department 
 

A. Department Established  
 
i. The Police Department of the City of Gardner shall consist of a Chief of 

Police and any such subordinate officers, patrol officers and other support 

11289



personnel as the Mayor, with the approval of the City Council, shall from 
time to time deem necessary.  
 

ii. Such Department may be augmented by a reserve police force in accordance 
with the provisions of the General Laws of the Commonwealth. 

 
B. Chief of Police; Deputy Chief of Police  

 
i. The Chief of Police shall be the head of the Police Department and shall 

have immediate control and command of the Department, its officers and 
members, and all constables and other officers when engaged in the police 
service of the City, or when assigned by him to any special duty.  
 

ii. The Chief shall be exempt from the provisions of MGL c. 31 in accordance 
with Chapter 416 of the Acts of 1991. 

 
iii. The Chief of Police shall be the Keeper of the Lockup in compliance with 

MGL c. 40, § 35. 
 

iv. The Deputy Chief of Police shall be exempt from the provisions of Chapter 
31 of the General Laws in accordance with Chapter 284 of the Acts of 2012  

 
C. Special Police Officers  

 
i. The City of Gardner may employ a person in police duty only when such 

duty is absolutely essential to its regular services as an employee of the 
City. 
 

ii. Special Police Officers will be compensated at the current collective 
bargaining rate for patrol/superior officers. 

 
D. Traffic Control Unit 

 
i. The City of Gardner may employ a person in police duty in the traffic 

control unit, when such duties are deemed to be needed by the Chief of 
Police. 
 

ii. Traffic Control Officer will be compensated at the current collective 
bargaining rate for patrol/superior officers. 

 
E. Civilian Public Safety Dispatch Division  

 
i. The Chief of Police shall oversee all dispatch operations for the City.  

 
ii. The Division shall be run by a director who shall be appointed by the Chief 

of Police, not subject to confirmation by the City Council. 

11289



 
iii. The Division may employee all full- and part- time dispatchers as deemed 

necessary to execute the functions of the division.  
 

F. Emergency Management Division 
 

Article I: Response to Calls for Mutual Aid 
 

i. Authority of Police Chief 
 

The Chief of the Police Department during their absence, the officer in 
charge of the Department and hereby is authorized to go to another city, 
town or district for the purpose of aiding its police department with 
police vehicles with personnel, and while in the performance of their 
duties in extending such aid, the members of each Department shall 
have the same immunities and privileges as if performing the same 
within the City of Gardner. 

Article II: Mutual Aid Agreements 

ii. Mutual Aid Programs for Police Purposes  

The Mayor is hereby authorized under the authority granted by the 
General Laws of the Commonwealth, to enter into agreement between 
the City and any other city or town, or combination of other cities and 
towns, to provide mutual aid programs for police purposes in order to 
increase the capability of the City's Police Department to protect the 
lives, safety and property of the citizens of the City of Gardner and those 
of said other cities and towns which may be a party to such agreement. 

iii. Contents of Agreements 
 

Such mutual aid agreements as authorized hereunder may provide for the 
furnishing of personal services, supplies, materials, contractual services 
and equipment when the resources normally available to either the City or 
the other municipality which is a party to such agreement are not sufficient 
to cope with a situation which requires police action. 

 
Article III: Civil Defense Division 

 
iv. Division Established  

 
A. There shall be established in the City of Gardner a Civil 

Defense Department to be administered by a Director. 
 

11289



B. The Director shall report to the Mayor and Chief of Police 
and shall appear before the City Council whenever requested 
to do so. 

 
Section 11: Department of Public Works  
 

A. Department established 
 

i. There shall be established in the City of Gardner a Department of Public 
Works administered by a Director. 
 

ii. Aside from all duties outlined in the job description of the Director, they 
shall also: 
 
a. The Director shall have all the duties and powers vested in the 

separate boards and commissions and any amendments thereto and 
shall succeed to all rights, privileges, duties and liabilities of said 
separate boards and commissions. 
 

b. Meet when requested by the City Council Public Service Committee.  
 

c. The Director shall have the power to make rules and regulations for 
the governing of the Department of Public Works and sections 
thereof and shall attend to the proper enforcement of the same. The 
Director shall have jurisdiction over the sections and over each 
member of each section. The Director shall sign all vouchers for the 
Department of Public Works. 

 
iii. In the event that the Director is absent from the City, he shall notify the 

City Auditor in writing of the person designated by the Director to assume 
his responsibilities during his absence. 

 
Section 12: Purchasing and Civil Enforcement Department 
 

A. Purpose. 
 
There is hereby established in the administrative service of the City of Gardner the 
Purchasing/Civil Enforcement Department and, in said Department, the position of 
City Purchasing Agent/Civil Enforcement Director, hereinafter referred to as 
"Director." 
 

B. General authority of Director. 
 

i. The Purchasing Agent/Civil Enforcement Director shall direct, supervise 
and have control of the Purchasing/Civil Enforcement Department.  

 

11289



ii. The Purchasing Agent/Civil Enforcement Director shall have all powers and 
duties prescribed by this chapter and the positions job description on file in 
the City’s Department of Human Resources and shall serve as the City's 
Chief Procurement Officer (CPO) and Affirmative Marketing Construction 
Officer.  

 
i. The Purchasing Agent/Civil Enforcement Director shall be responsible for all 

purchases and contractual services and all sales of property.  
 

ii. The Purchasing Agent/Civil Enforcement Director shall be responsible for the 
tracking, recordkeeping and collection of parking, animal control and civil 
violations and act as the Parking Clerk.  
 

iii. The Purchasing Agent/Civil Enforcement Director shall serve as the City's 
Municipal Hearing Officer. 

 
C. Purchasing. 

 
Except as herein provided or specifically authorized by the Purchasing Agent/CPO, 
it shall be unlawful for any City employee or City official to purchase any supplies 
or services other than through the Purchasing Department and in accordance with 
this chapter. 
 

D. Sale or disposal of personal or real property. 
 

i. The head of the department, board or commission in possession of the surplus 
supplies shall certify, in writing, the estimated value, determined through a 
commercially reasonable process.  The Chief Procurement Officer shall decide 
upon the most appropriate method of disposal, including direct sale, quotes, or 
donations and the decision should be based upon the best interest of the City of 
Gardner.  No tangible property shall be sold or otherwise disposed of without 
the written approval of the head of the department, board or commission as well 
as the City Council committee or School Committee subcommittee having 
charge of matters concerning such department, board or otherwise and with the 
written approval of the Mayor. 
 

ii. Real property shall be declared surplus by a vote of the City Council, with the 
approval of the Mayor, following the determination of value.  No real estate, 
whether the same is controlled by any department, board or otherwise, shall be 
sold or otherwise disposed of except with the approval of the City Council and 
Mayor. 

 
E. Award of contract. 

 

11289



i. The Purchasing Agent shall have the authority to award contracts within the 
purview of this chapter and shall have the authority to determine 
responsibility of bidders. 

 
ii. The Purchasing Agent shall have the authority to declare vendors as 

irresponsible bidders and to disqualify them from receiving any orders or 
contract awards from the municipality. 

 
F.  Tie bids. 

 
If all bids received are for the same total amount or unit price, quality and service 
being equal, the contract shall be awarded to a local bidder, "local bidder" defined 
as having its corporate/home office in the City Gardner. If no local bidder exists, 
the Purchasing Agent shall award the contract to one of the tie bidders by drawing 
lots in public. 
 

G.  Bid protests. 
 
Upon receipt of a written protest of an award made by the Chief Procurement 
Officer, the matter shall be reviewed by the Chief Procurement Officer and a 
determination made to: 
 

i. Reject the bid protest on grounds the protest fails to prove a violation of the 
Massachusetts Uniform Procurement Act and continue with the award of a 
contract; or 
 

ii. Uphold the bid protest on grounds the protest proves a violation of the 
Massachusetts Uniform Procurement Act and conduct a new procurement. 

 
H.  Cooperative purchasing. 

 
The Purchasing Agent shall have the authority to join other units of government 
(federal, state, county, municipal and municipal subdivisions, including such quasi-
municipal agencies as water districts, sewer districts, etc.) in cooperative 
purchasing plans when the best interest of the City would be served thereby and 
such action is in accordance with and pursuant to prevailing General Laws. 
 

I.  Other duties of Purchasing Agent. 
 
The Purchasing Agent shall perform such other duties related to the functions, 
duties and authorities set forth herein as may be prescribed by the Mayor or any 
applicable state or local laws and ordinances. 
 

J.  Chief Procurement Officer. 
 

11289



The Chief Procurement Officer shall conduct requests for proposals, including 
oversight of the solicitation, opening and evaluation of proposals and award of 
contract, in accordance with the authority delegated by MGL c. 30B. 
 

K.  Affirmative Marketing Construction Officer. 
 
The Affirmative Marketing Construction Officer shall serve as the City's liaison 
with the Supplier Diversity Office and be responsible for all reporting in 
compliance with MGL c. 93. 
 

L.  Municipal Hearing Officer. 
 
The Municipal Hearing Officer shall conduct local hearings of code violations 
pursuant to and in compliance with MGL c. 148A (Code Enforcement Officer). The 
Municipal Hearing Officer shall conduct such hearings using formal rules 
established under MGL c. 148A and shall render a written decision to the 
appropriate parties. 
 
Section 13: Senior Center 
 

A. Department Established 
 
i. There shall be a Senior Center overseen by the Director of Senior Citizens.  

 
ii. The Senior Citizens' Director shall report directly to the Mayor and shall 

have the duty and responsibility of working with the Council on Aging and 
various state and federal elder affairs agencies in providing programs and 
services for the elderly, shall be responsible for preparing the annual budget 
and shall plan all programs and activities for the senior citizens of the City 
of Gardner. 

 
SECTION 35: That a new Chapter 7 be added to the Code of the City of Gardner to be entitled, 
“Board and Commissions,” as follows:  
 
 Section 1: Miscellaneous 
 

A. Board and Commission Membership  
 
All boards and commission made by the City shall have an odd 
number of members, unless membership is defined by any other 
section of the General Laws of the Commonwealth or the Code of 
the City of Gardner.  
 

B. Acceptance of Donations  
 

11289



Any board or commission may, upon receiving prior approval by 
majority vote of the City Council may receive gifts of property, 
both real and personal, in the name of the City, subject to the rules 
and regulations of the General Laws of the Commonwealth, the 
Charter of the City of Gardner, and the Code of the City of 
Gardner.  
 

C. Organization and Election of Officers 
 
Unless otherwise stated by the General Laws of the 
Commonwealth or by the provisions of the City Charter of the City 
of Gardner or the Code of the City of Gardner, all boards and 
commissions shall annually vote to elect the Chairperson and all 
other officers of their respective body.  
 

D. Quorum  
 

A quorum of each board shall be defined as a majority of the 
members appointed to each board, commission, or committee at 
the time of the meeting, unless otherwise specified by statute, 
charter, or any section of the Code of the City of Gardner.  

 
Section 2: Airport Commission   
 
A. Establishment  
 
There shall be an Airport Commission, consisting of not less than three (3) nor more 
than eleven (11) members.  
 
B. Issuance of Fees and Charges 
 
The Airport Commission shall have the authority, with the approval of majority 
vote of the City Council and the Mayor, to institute a system of charges and fees 
for use of the Gardner Municipal Airport. 
 
Section 3: Bandstand Committee  
 
A. Establishment  
 
There is hereby established under this section the Community Bandstand 
Committee, which shall exist and be operated hereunder for the purpose of 
implementing seasonal programs to be conducted in the City's parks, including but 
not limited to summer musical concerts and other community entertainment events 
at the Bandstand located in Monument Park, as well as at the City's other parks, at 
the City's other municipal grounds and at other appropriate locations in the City.  
 

11289



B. Membership 
 
The Community Bandstand Committee shall consist of no less than three (3) 
members. One (1) of the members appointed to the Community Bandstand 
Committee shall be a member of the Municipal Grounds Commission, to carry out 
the purposes of this section.  
 
C. Donations to Committee  
 

i. The Community Bandstand Committee may receive donations and 
gifts of property, both real and personal, in the name of the City to 
further the purposes as set forth in this section. Upon receipt of any 
such donation or gift, the Community Bandstand Committee shall 
provide each such gift or donation to the Treasurer, who shall deposit 
same into an account to be created and named the "Community 
Bandstand Committee Program Fund." All funds in such 
Community Bandstand Committee Program Fund shall be used for 
the purposes set forth in this section.  

 
ii. In accordance with the General Laws of the Commonwealth, the 

Community Bandstand Committee shall from time to time submit a 
listing of all donations and gifts received by the Committee for 
acceptance by majority vote of the City Council.  

 
Section 4: Board Of Assessors  
 
A. Establishment 
 

i. There is hereby a Board of Assessors established, who shall work with 
the City Assessing Department in accordance with the provisions of 
Chapter 6 of the Code of the City of Gardner.  
 

ii. Each year at its first meeting the Board shall organize and elect a 
Chairperson. 

 
C. Duties  
 
The Assessors shall perform, or cause to be performed, all the duties required of 
assessors under the General Laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and shall 
be subject to said General Laws, as well as to the Charter and ordinances of the City 
of Gardner. 
 
D. Employment Status  
 
The City Assessor shall serve full time as an Assessor, while the other members 
shall be part-time Assessors. 

11289



 
E. Abatements 
 
The Board shall meet with any person filing an application for abatement or his 
attorney upon request for such a meeting. 
 
Section 4: Board Of Health  
 
A. Establishment 
 

i. There shall be a Board of Health consisting of not less than three (3) 
members but no more than seven (7) members 
 

ii. At least one (1) member of the Board of Health shall be a physician and at 
least one (1) member shall be a registered nurse 
 

iii. No members of the Board of Health shall be members of the City Council.  
 

iv. Each year at its first meeting the Board shall organize and elect a 
Chairperson. 

 
Section 5: Board Of Registrars Of Voters  
 
A. Establishment  
 
Per the provisions of the General Laws of the Commonwealth, there shall be a 
Board of Registrars of Voters consisting of three (3) members and the City Clerk 
shall serve as its fourth (4th) voting member. 
 
Section 6: Capital Improvement Planning Committee  

A. Establishment  
 

i. There shall be established in the City of Gardner a Capital 
Improvement Planning Committee.  
 

ii. Members shall consist of the Council President and/or designee(s), 
the City Engineer, the Director of Community Development and 
Planning, the City Treasurer, the Director of Public Works, the City 
Purchasing Agent/Civil Enforcement Director, the City Auditor, and 
the School Department Business Manager, all of whom shall serve 
as ex officio full voting members.  

 
B. Review of Projects  
 

11289



i. The Committee shall study proposed capital projects and 
improvements involving major nonrecurring tangible assets and 
projects which: 

 
1. Are purchased or undertaken at intervals of not less than five 

years; 
 

2. Have a useful life of at least five years; and 
 

3. Cost over $25,000. 
 

ii. All department heads, officers, boards and committees shall, by 
November 1 of each year, give to the Committee, on forms prepared 
by it, information concerning all anticipated projects requiring City 
Council action during the ensuing six years. The Committee shall 
consider the relative need, impact, timing, and cost of these 
expenditures and the effect each will have on the financial position 
of the City. 

C. Capital Improvement Budget and Program 
 
The Committee shall prepare an annual report recommending a capital 
improvement budget for the next fiscal year and a capital improvement program, 
including recommended capital improvements for the following five fiscal years. 
The report shall be submitted to the Mayor for consideration and approval. The 
Mayor shall submit the approved capital plan to the City Council for acceptance. 
 
D. Expenditures 
 
Such capital improvement program, after its acceptance, shall permit the 
expenditures on projects included therein of sums from departmental budgets for 
surveys, architectural or engineering advice, options or appraisals, but no such 
expenditure shall be incurred on projects which have not been so approved by the 
City through the appropriation of sums in the current year or in prior years, or for 
preliminary planning for projects to be undertaken more than five years in the 
future. 
 
E. Publication of Report and Budget  
 
The Committee's report and the Mayor's recommended capital budget shall be 
published and made available in a manner consistent with the distribution of the 
Mayor's budget recommendations to the City Council.  
 
Section 7: Cemetery Commission  

11289



 
A. Establishment 
 

i. There shall be established a Cemetery Commission for the City of 
Gardner consisting of no less than five (5) members but not more than 
seven (7) members. 
 

B. Meetings, minutes and records. 
 

i. The Commission shall meet annually in March each year to organize 
and elect a Chairperson and Secretary. The Commission shall hold 
monthly meetings each month during the course of the year. 
 

ii. The Secretary shall keep accurate minutes and records of all meetings 
of the Commission. 

 
C. Duties; perpetual care funds. 

 
i. The Commission shall have sole control over and responsibility for the 

management of perpetual care funds pursuant to MGL c. 114, § 19, and 
MGL c. 44, § 54. 

 
ii. Said Commission shall be charged with keeping full and complete 

records concerning such perpetual care funds and render to the Mayor 
and the City Council as often as may be required by them a full report 
concerning such perpetual care funds under its control during the 
period reported on. 

 
iii. Said Commission shall advise the Director of Public Works and the 

Municipal Grounds Commission as to the supervision, care and upkeep 
of all public cemeteries within the City of Gardner and as to the proper 
expenditure of the perpetual care funds under the control of said 
Commission. 

 
Section 8: Council On Aging  
 
A. Establishment. 

A Council on Aging is hereby established. 

B. Membership; terms of office. 
 
The Council on Aging shall consist of at least seven (7) members but not more than 
eleven (11) members.  

11289



 
C. Associate Members  

The Council on Aging may have up to five (5) associate members, appointed by the 
mayor, and confirmed by the City Council for a term of one (1) year.  

 
D. Duties. 
 
The Council on Aging shall have the duty and obligation of carrying out programs 
designed to meet the problems of the aging in coordination with the programs of 
the Massachusetts Council on Aging. 
 
E. Private nature of certain information. 
 
The names, addresses, telephone numbers, or other identifying information about 
elderly persons in the possession of the Council shall not be public records, but the 
use of these records shall comply with MGL c. 19A, §§ 14 to 24, inclusive, as a 
condition of receiving a government contract, program grant or other benefit, or as 
otherwise required by law. 
 
Section 9: Disability Commission  
 
A. Establishment 
 
There shall be established, pursuant to MGL c. 40, § 8J, a Disability Commission 
for the City of Gardner consisting of not less than seven (7) members and not more 
than nine (9) members. The majority of said Commission members shall consist of 
disabled persons, and at least one (1) of such members shall be a member of the 
immediate family of a disabled person, and one (1) member of said Commission 
shall be either an elected or appointed official of the City. 
 
B. Meetings and records. 
 
The Commission shall hold monthly meetings each month of the year. It shall keep 
accurate records of its meetings and actions and shall file an annual report. 
 
C. Powers and duties. 
 
The Commission shall have the following powers and duties: 
 

i. Its purpose shall be to develop and carry out programs which may be 
designed or established to meet the opportunities, challenges, and problems 

11289



of the disabled of the City and in conjunction with any agency of the federal 
government. 
 

ii. The Commission may appoint such clerks or other employees as it may 
from time to time require, subject always to appropriation of funds therefor. 

 
Section 10: Golf Commission  
 
A. Establishment 

A Municipal Golf Course Commission is hereby established. 

B. Membership; terms of office. 

The Municipal Golf Course Commission shall consist of not less than five (5) 
members, but not more than seven (7) members, including a Chairperson and 
Secretary.  

C. Membership in lieu of Compensation  
 
A Golf Commissioner shall receive a free family membership as defined in the 
family membership fee schedule of the Golf Course Commission each year while 
serving on the Commission. The free membership shall be subject to taxation 
pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code. 
 
D. Meetings  
 
The Commission shall hold bimonthly meetings each month during the course of 
each year, except that monthly meetings shall be held during the months of July and 
August. 
 
E. Duties.  
 
The Commission shall, subject to the regulations and orders of the Department of 
Public Works and Board of Health with reference to the management, improvement 
and control thereof for the purpose of preserving and protecting the water supply, 
have complete charge of the operation, improvement and maintenance of the 
Municipal Golf Course and all such other properties and activities as may hereafter 
be placed under its jurisdiction and control by the Mayor with the approval of the 
City Council. The Golf Course Commissioners shall have the authority to annually 
institute a system of charges and fees for use of the Municipal Golf Course. The 
charges and fees so to be charged are to be published in manners generally used in 
practice by the City upon their being determined, prior to the date the same are to 
take effect. 
 

11289



F. Appointees of the Golf Commission. 
 

i. The Commission shall, as soon as practicable after the qualification of its 
members, appoint such superintendent, officer or officers, agents and 
employees as it may deem necessary and shall have the power to remove 
said appointees for cause. 
 

ii. The appointees shall perform such duties as shall be required of them by 
said Commission. 

 
Section 11: Historical Commission  
 
A. Establishment 
 
There is hereby established, under the provisions of the General Laws of the 
Commonwealth, a Historical Commission of the City of Gardner for the purposes 
and with the rights and duties provided by law, to be composed of not less than 
three (3) members, but not more than seven (7) members.  
 
Section 12: Municipal Grounds Commission  
 

A.  Commission established; membership; terms of office.  
 

i. There shall be established a Municipal Grounds Commission for the City of 
Gardner consisting of at least six (6), but not more than eight (8) members  
 

ii. The Director of Public Works, who shall be a of the Commission during his 
term of office but may only vote to break a tie in a vote of the other 
members.  

 
B.  Meetings.  

 
The Commission shall hold meetings no less than quarterly during the course 
of the year. The Secretary shall keep accurate minutes and records of all 
meetings of the Commission. The Director of Public Works shall not hold 
office within the Commission. 
 

C. Duties 
 
The Commission shall be an advisory body and shall advise the Director of 
Public Works, Mayor and City Council on matters relating to the Municipal 
Grounds Division. 

 

11289



Section 13: Planning Board  
 
A. Establishment 

A Planning Board is hereby established, consisting of no less than five (5) members, 
no more than nine (9) members.  

B. Powers and duties. 
 
The Planning Board shall have all the powers and duties imposed and conferred by 
MGL c. 41, §§ 81A to 81GG, inclusive, and acts in amendment thereof and in 
addition thereto. 
 
Section 14: Zoning Board Of Appeals. 
 
A. Establishment and Authority 
 
The Zoning Board of Appeals shall consist of five persons with a sufficient number 
of alternate members that the Mayor and City Council shall deem necessary for the 
proper function of the Zoning Board of Appeals. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
established under Chapter 675, Zoning, of this Code is hereby constituted the 
Zoning Board of Appeals as provided in MGL c. 41, § 81Z. The Zoning Board of 
Appeals shall have all the powers and duties imposed and conferred by MGL c. 41, 
§§ 81Z and 81AA, as well as all other powers and duties imposed and conferred on 
the Zoning Board of Appeals by said MGL c. 41, §§ 81A to 81GG. 
 
Section 15: Traffic Commission  
 
A. Establishment 

There shall be established in the City of Gardner a Traffic Commission. 

B. Membership 
 
Members shall consist of the Chief of Police or his designee, as Chairperson, a 
member of the Council's Public Safety Committee as designated by the Chairperson 
of that Committee, the City Engineer, the Director of Public Works, the Director of 
Community Development and Planning, and the Civil Enforcement Director, all 
whom shall serve as ex officio, full voting members. 
 
C. Placement of official traffic signs and signals. 
 
The Director of Public Works, under supervision of the Traffic Commission, is 
hereby authorized and it shall be his duty to place and maintain or cause to be placed 
and maintained all official traffic signs and signals, markings and safety zones. All 

11289



signs, signals, markings and safety zones shall conform to the standards as 
prescribed by the Highway Division of the Massachusetts Department of 
Transportation. 
 
D. Meetings; duties. 
 
The Traffic Commission shall meet regularly, not less often than quarterly. 
 
E. Among its duties the Traffic Commission shall: 
 

i. Make recommendations to the City Council, supported by engineering 
studies and reports when necessary, regarding changes required to the 
Code of the City of Gardner 
 

ii. Monitor all traffic-related issues, from signs to major project proposals. 
 

iii. Actively pursue state or federal grants for street improvements (including 
curbing, pedestrian crossings, and signalization). 

 
iv. Improve traffic on a regional basis, working with and supporting 

endeavors of the local Regional Planning Commission.  
 
Section 16: Youth Commission  
 
A. Establishment 
 
There shall be established, pursuant to MGL c. 40, § 8E, a Youth Commission for 
the City of Gardner consisting of no less than three (3) members and no more than 
seven (7) members, who shall be appointed by the Mayor, subject to confirmation 
by the City Council, except for one (1) member who shall be appointed by the City 
Council President not subject to confirmation by the City Council.  
 
B. Meetings, records and annual report. 
 
The Commission shall meet once annually to organize and elect a Chairperson, Vice 
Chairperson, Treasurer and Clerk. The Commission shall hold monthly meetings 
each month of the year. It shall keep accurate records of its meetings and actions 
and shall file an annual report. 
 
C. Powers and duties. 
 
The Commission shall have the following powers and duties: 
 

11289



a. Its purpose shall be to develop and carry out programs which may be 
designed or established to meet the opportunities, challenges and problems 
of youth of the City and in conjunction with any similar or related programs 
of any agency of the commonwealth or any agency of the federal 
government. 
 

b. The Commission may appoint such clerks or other employees as it may 
from time to time require, subject always to appropriation of funds therefor. 

 

SECTION 36: Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled “Personnel,” be 
amended by replacing the title as “Non-Union Employees” and renumbered as Chapter 8.  

SECTION 37: Section 2 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Conduct of Examination,” be amended by deleting the phrase, “or the department head” form 
the section.  

SECTION 38: Section 3 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled, 
“Report” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

Section 3: The employment candidate cannot commence employment until the 
Human Resources Department has received the pre-employment screening report 
clearing the candidate for full duty and/or identifying appropriate and applicable 
reasonable accommodations.  

SECTION 39: Section 6 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled, 
“Compensation for Blasting Services” be deled in its entirety.  

SECTION 40: Section 8 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Summons to be presented to Department Head,” be amended by adding the following sentence 
to the end of the section: 

The summons and/or jury duty service confirmation shall be submitted to the 
Human Resources Department to be maintained in the employee’s personnel file.  

SECTION 41: Section 12 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Compensation,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

Section 12: During such time as the employee is out on an authorized civic duty 
leave or unable to perform their duties, upon the submission of the proper civic 
duty service confirmation document(s) to the Human Resources Department, the 
City will pay the employee the difference between the wages earned on such civic 
duty leave and the salary or wages to which the employee would have been 
entitled to for the regular performance of their duties. In the event the employee 
receives no compensation for their civic duty service, the City will pay the 
employee their full wages for the time spent serving said civic duty in lieu of 
performing their duties for the City.  

11289



SECTION 42: Section 13 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled “Effect on 
Vacation,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

 

Section 13: Employees are allowed to roll over twice as much as their annual 
vacation allotment. An employee who at the end of the year has in excess of 
the authorized accrued vacation carry over as a result of being summoned for 
jury duty service shall be entitled to carry over the accrued vacation time that 
exceeds the authorized roll over benefit. The excess vacation time must be 
taken within the year it was allowed to be carried over into.  

SECTION 43: Section 14 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Holidays 
Designated,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

Section 14: Holidays Designated  

A. All full time and regular part-time City employees, not covered by a 
collective bargaining agreement shall be granted holidays with pay at the rate 
fixed for such employees respectively on each of the following twelve (12) 
legal holidays:  

1. New Year’s Day  
2. Martin Luther King Day  
3. Presidents Day  
4. Patriots Day  
5. Memorial Day  
6. Juneteenth 
7. Independence Day  
8. Labor Day  
9. Indigenous Peoples Day/Columbus Day  
10. Veterans Day  
11. Thanksgiving Day  
12. Christmas Day  

 

B. Sunday holidays shall be celebrated the following Monday. Saturday 
Holidays shall be celebrated on the preceding Friday.  
 

C. Employees who work a schedule other than a Monday through Friday 
Schedule and the holiday falls on a non-work day, shall be given a day in lieu 
to be taken on a day approved by the employee’s department director.  
 

D. All full-time and regular part-time City employees, not covered by a 
collective bargaining agreement, shall have the Friday after Thanksgiving as 
a day off, but not as a designated holiday.  

 

11289



SECTION 44: Section 15 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled 
“Compensation for Working on a Holiday” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the 
following: 

Section 15: In the event that a non-exempt employee shall be required to work 
on a holiday, their compensation shall be at two (2) times their regular 
straight-time pay for all hours worked on such holiday. The employee may 
elect to earn compensatory time for the time worked on the holiday (1 hour 
worked equivalent to 2 hours of compensatory time) to be reported to the 
Human Resources Department for accrued time benefit tracking.  

SECTION 45: Section 16 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Grant of 
Sick Days” shall be amended by replacing “15 days” with “one hundred sixty (160) hours”  

SECTION 46: Section 17 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Credit 
and Use of Sick Days,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

Section 17: Sick time shall be credited to employees on January 1st of each 
year. Employees may carry an unlimited number of unused sick time at the 
end of the year into the next year. Sick time shall not be used in less than one 
(1) hour increments.  

SECTION 47: Section 18 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, entitled “Doctor’s 
Certification,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

Section 18: An employee that has been absent from work due to an illness or 
injury and/or the use of non-occupational sick leave for three (3) or more 
consecutive days at one time must present a medical note to their department 
director. This note shall be attached to the weekly benefit time reports. A 
doctor’s note may also be required if a department head and/or the Director 
of Human Resources has reasonable cause to believe that the employee may 
be abusing their non-occupational sick time.  

SECTION 48: Section 21 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Payment for accumulated sick leave upon death of employee” be deleted in its entirety and 
replaced with the following:  

Section 21: For employees hired before October 17, 1995, in the event that 
the employee shall die prior to retirement, if the employee has accumulated 
sick leave, shall be granted pay for such accumulation not to exceed fifty (50) 
full days of pay, plus an additional fifty percent (50%) of the daily rate for 
accumulated days over and above the first fifty (50) days, not to exceed a total 
of one hundred thirty (130) days paid (equivalent to ninety (90) full days of 
total pay.- 50 full days and 80 at 50%) Payment shall be paid to the estate of 
said deceased employee.  

11289



SECTION 49: Section 23 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Sick Leave Incentive Time,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

Section 23: Commencing effective January 1, 2024, employees that do not 
call in sick and/or use sick leave in a calendar month shall earn four (4) hours 
per month of sick leave incentive time (not defined as vacation or personal 
time). The use of sick leave incentive time is subject to the approval of the 
department director. Employees may carry over up to twelve (12) hours of 
sick leave incentive time between years.  

 

SECTION 50: Section 24 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Annual Report; Notification of Absence Due to Illness,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced by 
the following:  

Section 24: On or about July 1st of each year, the Human Resources 
Department will provide the Mayor and the City Auditor a fiscal report of all 
sick leave accumulated and used by all City employees eligible for this 
benefit. Each employee will notify their department director each morning 
by 8:30 a.m. when they are going to be absent from work due to illness or 
injury.  

SECTION 51: Section 25 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Grant of Leave,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

Section 25: Grant of Leave  

A. A full-time and regularly part-time employees, not covered by a collective bargaining 
agreement, shall be granted bereavement leave without loss of regular straight-time 
pay for normally scheduled working hours as follows:  
 

1) Five (5) consecutive days for the death of an immediate family member of the 
employee, which shall include a spouse, parent, step-parent, sibling, step sibling, 
children, step-children, or a person living in the immediate household of the 
employee.  
 

2) Three (3) consecutive days for the death of family members of the employee, 
which shall include parent of spouse or grandparent. 
 

3) Two (2) consecutive days for an employee’s niece, nephew, sibling in-law, child 
in-law, aunt, or uncle.  
 

B. If there is a delay in scheduling services, the employee may request a delay in their 
use of this benefit until that time. This request should be directed to the employee’s 
department director. 
 

11289



C. For the purposes of this section, miscarriage of pregnancy shall be an eligible use for 
bereavement leave as defined in the schedule of time previously listed.  

 

SECTION 52: Section 26(B) of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Full-time employees,” be amended by deleting the sentence, “but in no event shall longevity 
pay for any such employee exceed $1,050 in any fiscal year.”  

 

SECTION 53: Section 27(a) of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Part-time Employees,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

Section 27: Part – Time Employees  

A. Any regular part-time employee of the City that is not covered by a collective 
bargaining agreement, except those under the control of the School Department 
and officials elected by the voters of the City, who have been employed for at least 
five (5) continuous and consecutive years of service and has worked at least 1,000 
hours each year of service, shall receive, in addition to their regular compensation, 
longevity pay of $75 during the first year that such service is attained and each 
fiscal year thereafter.  

 
B. Such employee shall receive an additional $15 per year for each additional year of 

part-time continuous and consecutive service with the City.  
 

SECTION 54: Section 30 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled “Grant of Personal 
Time,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

Section 30: Grant of Personal Time  

a. Regular full-time and part-time employees, not covered by a collective bargaining 
agreement, except officials elected by the voters of the City, shall be granted forty 
(40) hours of personal time per calendar year at the employee’s normal straight-
time pay for normally scheduled hours. A personal day for  part-time employees 
will be equal to one-fifth (1/5) of the employee’s regular work week.  

 
b. Upon termination, resignation, or retirement, the annual allotment of personal time 

for the year in which the employee’s employment ends shall be prorated quarterly 
from the date the employee’s employment ends as follows:  

 

1. January 1st to March 31st: thirty-two (32) hours 
2. April 1st to June 30th: twenty-four (24) hours 
3. July 1st to September 30th: sixteen (16) hours 

 

11289



SECTION 55: Section 31(B) of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Use of Personal Days,” be amended by replacing “half day” with “one (1) hour.” 

SECTION 56: Section 32 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Crediting of Personal Days,” be amended by adding the phrase, “Personal Time cannot be 
carried over from year to year” at the end of the section.  

SECTION 57: Section 33 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“New Employees,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

Section 33: New Employees  

Newly hired employees shall be granted personal leave according to the following 
schedule:  

First Day of Employment  Number of Personal Hours  
January 1 to March 31 40 
April 1 to June 30 32 
July 1 to September 30 24 
October 1 to December 31 16 

 

SECTION 58: Article IX of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Vacations for City Officers and Employees,” be amended by deleting the words “City Officers 
and” from the title.  

SECTION 59:  Section 34 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Police Officers,” be amended by deleting the title and replacing the title with “Deputy Chief of 
Police.”  

SECTION 60: Section 34 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Police Officers,” be amended by replacing the phrase, “All police officers of the City of 
Gardner, not covered by a collective bargaining agreement,” with the phrase “The Deputy Chief 
of Police.”  

SECTION 61: Section 35 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Firefighters,” be deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 62: Section 36 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof Entitled 
“Other full-time officers and employees,” be amended by replacing the title of the section with 
the following: “Full-time Employees.”  

SECTION 63: Section 36 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Other full-time officers and employees,” be amended by removing the phrase “All other 
employees or officers,” from the first sentence. 

SECTION 64: Section 36 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Other full-time officers and employees,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the 
following:  

11289



Section 36: City Employees, except those provided for by law and those covered by a 
collective bargaining agreement, regularly employed full-time by the City shall be 
granted an annual vacation without loss of pay as follows:  

A. Regularly employed for one (1) to four (4) years shall be entitled one hundred twenty 
(120) hours 

B. Regularly employed for five (5) to nine (9) years shall be entitled to one hundred 
sixty (160) hours  

C. Regularly employed for ten (10) to fourteen (14) years shall be entitled to two 
hundred (200) hours.  

D. Regularly employed for fifteen (15) to nineteen (19) years shall be entitled to two 
hundred forty (240) hours 

E. Regularly employed for twenty (20) years or more shall be entitled to two hundred 
eighty (280) hours.  

 

SECTION 65: Section 37 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Other Part-time officers and employees,” be amended by replacing the title with “Part-time 
Employees.” 

SECTION 66: Section 37 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Other Part-time Officers and Employees,” be amended by removing the words “other” and “or 
officers” from the first sentence.  

SECTION 67: Section 40 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“New Employees,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

Section 40: New full-time employees will earn eight (8) hours per month up to 
eighty (80) hours per calendar year. This time will be credited the last day of each 
month. The new employee shall continue to earn vacation in this manner until the 
first anniversary date of benefited employment when they shall be credited with 
the difference between the number of days of vacation days they have earned up 
until such date, and eighty (80) hours of vacation time. This vacation time will 
only be allowed upon completion of a period of three (3) months of employment 
with the City of Gardner. In no event shall a new employee be eligible for more 
than eighty (80) hours of vacation per calendar year.  

SECTION 68: Section 42 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Minimum Increments,” be amended by replacing the phrase “half day” with “hour.” 

SECTION 69: Article X of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled, 
“Salaries of Police and Fire Personnel,” be deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 70: Section 44 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Compensation in Lieu of Paid Holidays,” be deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 71: Section 45 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Compensation Established,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

11289



Section 45: Compensation Established  

In addition to the provisions of the salary ordinance, the following full-time personnel shall 
receive compensation to be paid annually as follows:  

A. The Fire Chief shall receive $1,250.00 for the upkeep and purchase of uniforms, 
equipment, and footwear.  
 

B. The Chief of Police and Deputy Chief of Police shall receive $1,250.00 for the upkeep 
and purchase of uniforms, equipment, and footwear.  

 

C. The following shall receive $500.00 annually for the upkeep and purchase of clothing, 
gear, and/or footwear:  

 

• Building Commissioner  
• Director of Public Health  
• Director of Public Works  
• City Engineer  
• Golf Course Superintendent  
• Transfer Station Supervisor  
• Transfer Station Monitor  
• Golf Grounds Maintenance Staff  
• Golf Grounds Maintenance Working Foreman  

 

D. The following shall receive $650.00 annually for the upkeep and purchase of clothing, 
gear, and/or footwear:  

 

• Golf Motor Equipment Working Foreman  
• Golf Motor Equipment Repairmen  

 

SECTION 72: Section 47 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“New Employees,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

Section: 44: New Employees  

Any newly appointed full-time employee as referenced above shall receive 
clothing/uniform allowance prorated quarterly for the balance of the remaining 
fiscal year at the time of their appointment.  

SECTION 73: Section 52 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Department Heads,” be amended by replacing “Council on Aging Director,” with “Senior 
Center Director.”  

11289



SECTION 74: Section 52 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Department Heads,” be amended by adding “Director of Cable Operations” above “Director of 
Community Development and Planning.” 

SECTION 75: Section 53(A) of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Vacation,” be deleted in its entirety. 

Section 76: Section 53(B) of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Vacation,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

All Department Heads as defined earlier in this Chapter, shall be granted an annual 
vacation without loss of pay as follows:  

A. Regularly employed for one (1) to four (4) years shall be entitled to one hundred 
sixty (160) hours 

B. Regularly employed for five (5) to nine (9) years shall be entitled to two hundred 
(200) hours.  

C. Regularly employed for ten (10) to fourteen (14) years shall be entitled to two 
hundred forty (240) hours.  

D. Regularly employed for fifteen (15) to nineteen (19) years shall be entitled to two 
hundred eighty (280) hours.  

E. Regularly employed for twenty (20) years or more shall be entitled to three 
hundred twenty (320) hours.  

 

SECTION 77: Section 53(E) of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof 
entitled, “Vacation” be amended by replacing the schedule of time with the following:  

First day of Employment  Number of Vacation Days  
January 1 to April 30 160 hours  
May 1 to August 31 120 hours  
September 1 to December 31 80 hours  

 

SECTION 78: Section 54 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled, “ 
Personal Time,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

A. Department heads shall be granted forty (40) hours of personal time per 
calendar year. Personal time shall be credited to department heads on January 
1 of each year. Personal time is not cumulative and must be used in the 
calendar year in which they have been credited.  

B. Upon termination, resignation, or retirement, the annual allotment of 
personal time for the year in which the department head’s employment ends 
shall be prorated from the date the department head’s employment ends as 
follows:  

• January 1st through March 31st: Forty (40) hours  
• April 1st through June 30th: thirty-two (32) hours  
• July 1 through September 30th: twenty-four (24) hours 

11289



• October 1st through December 31st: eight (8) hours 
 

C. Newly hired department heads shall be granted personal leave according to 
the following schedule:  

 

First Day of Employment Number of Personal Hours  
January 1 to March 31  40 
April 1 to June 30 32 
July 1 to September 30 24 
October 1 to December 31 16 

 

SECTION 79: Section 55 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Sick Leave,” be amended by deleting subsections C and D in their entirety and replacing them 
with the following:  

A. Department heads shall be granted a maximum of one hundred sixty (160) 
hours of nonoccupational sick time per calendar year. Sick time shall be credited 
on January 1 of each year. Department heads may carry an unlimited amount of 
sick time. Newly hired (hired from outside of the City and not promoted within) 
department heads shall be granted nonoccupational sick time prorated quarterly 
based on their date of hire.  

B. A department head that has been absent from work due to the use of 
nonoccupational sick leave for three (3) consecutive days or more at one time 
must present a doctors note to the Human Resources Director. A doctor’s note 
may also be required if the Mayor has reasonable cause to believe that the 
department head may be abusing their nonoccupational sick leave.  

C. A Department Head will contact the Mayor’s Office and Director of Human 
Resources via email each morning by 8:30 a.m. when they are going to be 
absent from work due to illness.  

SECTION 80: Section 56 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Sick Leave Incentive Time,” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

Effective January 1, 2024, department heads that do not use sick leave in a calendar 
month shall earn four (4) hours not to be charged to sick leave or vacation leave. 
Time earned in this manner shall be referred to as “sick leave incentive time.”  

 

SECTION 81: Section 57 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled, 
“Sick Leave Buy Back,” be amended by adding the following after the phrase “but not to exceed 130 
days,”  

(equivalent of 90 days of full pay total- 50 full days and 80 days at 50%) 

11289



SECTION 82: Section 58 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Bereavement Leave” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:  

A. Department Heads shall be granted bereavement leave without loss of regular straight-
time pay for normally scheduled working hours as follows:  
 

4) Five (5) consecutive days for the death of an immediate family member of 
the employee, which shall include a spouse, parent, step-parent, sibling, 
step sibling, children, step-children, or a person living in the immediate 
household of the employee.  
 

5) Three (3) consecutive days for the death of family members of the 
employee, which shall include parent of spouse or grandparent. 
 

6) Two (2) consecutive days for an employee’s niece, nephew, sibling in-law, 
child in-law, aunt, or uncle.  
 

D. If there is a delay in scheduling services, the employee may request a delay in 
their use of this benefit until that time. This request should be directed to the 
Mayor 
 

E. For the purposes of this section, miscarriage of pregnancy shall be an eligible 
use for bereavement leave as defined in the schedule of time previously listed.  

 

SECTION 83: Section 60 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Holidays with Pay,” be amended by removing the phrase “with the exception of the Police 
Chief and Fire Chief (See Article X of this Chapter).”  

SECTION 84: Section 60 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Holidays with Pay,” be amended by adding “(6) Juneteenth” between Memorial Day and 
Independence Day and the following renumbered accordingly.  

SECTION 85: Section 60 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Holidays with Pay,” be amended by adding the following subsection C:  

C. Department Heads shall have the Friday after Thanksgiving off (not defined as 
a holiday).  

SECTION 86: Section 63(A) of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Fire Chief,” be amended by replacing the words, “A Fire Chief,” with the phrase “A Fire Chief, 
hired before July 1, 2024.”  

SECTION 87: Section 63 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Fire Chief,” be amended by adding the following subsection C:  

C. A Fire Chief hired on or after July 1, 2024 will not be eligible for this benefit 
as it will be included in the annual compensation schedule for this position. 

11289



Nothing in this section shall apply to a fire chief who held the position prior to 
July 1, 2024 and is being consecutively re-appointed to the position.  

SECTION 88: Section 64 of Chapter 171 of the Code of the City of Gardner, thereof entitled 
“Chief of Police and Deputy Chief of Police,” be deleted in its entirety.  

SECTION 89: Severability 

Each section of this ordinance is an independent section, and the holding of any section or part 
thereof to be unconstitutional, void or ineffective for any cause shall not be deemed to affect the 
validity or constitutionality of any other sections or parts thereof. 

SECTION 90: This ordinance shall become effective upon the stated dates listed in the sections 
above or on January 1, 2025 if no date is specified in that specific section, following passage and 
publication as required by law.  

11289



11289



11289



11289



11289



11289



11289



11289



11289



11289



11289



11289



11289



11289



11289



11289



11289




